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In its search for therapies to treat serious diseases, Antigenics has broken new scientific
ground by challenging conventional thinking, and by helping to bring about a new awareness
of quality of life issues among patients and physicians. Focusing on therapeutic vaccines
and other cutting edge treatments for diseases such as cancer, genital herpes, malaria, HIV
and degenerative disorders, Antigenics develops products that are designed to improve on
conventional treatments and enhance quality of life. The company continues to push ahead
with several late stage products that have the potential to dramatically change the way
medicine is practiced today. In the process, Antigenics has emerged as one of the preeminent

innovators in the fields of cancer,immunology and personalized medicine.

- Abetterway

to get better
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Conventional cancer therapies can be harsh, debilitating and frequently ineffective.
Oncophage, Antigenics’ breakthrough immunotherapy, is a different kind of treatment.
Oncophage is a therapeutic vaccine customized for each patient - designed to be safer, less
toxic, and potentially more effective than current conventional products. With Antigenics’
revolutionary heat shock protein technology, the opportunities for new therapeutic

vaccines to treat a broad range of cancers are vast.




Oncophage is a therapeutic
cancer vaccine utilizing heat
shock proteins that can reprogram
each patient’s immune system to
recognize and attack the cancer.

Fast Track Programs are designed
to facilitate the development and
expedite FDA review of new drugs
to treat serious or life-threatening
diseases.

Renal Cell Carcinoma is the most
common type of kidney cancer,
affecting about three out of 10,000
people, and causing 12,000 deaths
in the United States each year.

Melanoma is the most serious
form of skin cancer. While
melanama accounts for only about
4 percent of skin cancer cases, it
causes nearly 79 percent of skin
cancer deaths. The American
Cancer Society estimates that
about 53,600 new melanomas
will be diagnosed in the United
States during 2002.
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CANCER

ONCOPHAGE? The fact is that for most cancer patients, basic treatment options are essentially
the same as they were 30 years ago - chemotherapy, radiation therapy, surgery. For many, these
options represent no choice at all. Once approved, Oncophage may offer cancer patients the first

potential alternative to conventional treatment.

In clinical trials, Oncophage, Antigenics’ leading compound, has already shown significant potential
to treat a variety of cancer types without many of the side effects associated with traditional therapies.
Currently in Phase lil trials in renal cell carcinoma and melanoma, Oncophage was the first
personalized therapeutic cancer vaccine to ever receive Fast Track designation from the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (FDA) for both indications. So far, a number of the 300 patients who have been
treated with Oncophage appear to have experienced an improvement in their condition - without
the harsh and often debilitating side effects that are typical with conventional treatment. Oncophage

is designed to target only cancer cells while leaving normal cells unharmed.

Oncophage consists of a class of proteins known as heat shock proteins, which are taken from

each patient’s cancer. These proteins contain unique signals that can reprogram the patient’s own
immune system to recognize and kill cancer cells. Many patients taking Oncophage have no need
for intensive care, extensive hospitalization or additional therapies. Some even continue to lead

normal working lives during their course of therapy.

Oncophage is cost-effective to manufacture and administer. First, a tumor sample is taken from the
patient. The sample is shipped to Antigenics’ manufacturing facility, where the individual vaccine -
is produced within a day. Oncophage arrives ready-to-use at local oncology treatment sites. The end
result is personalized cancer therapy in a vial.
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For advanced melanoma patients and those suffering from renal cell carcinoma, the current
treatment options are limited. Oncophage offers a potentially new paradigm, one that may enhance
outcomes while creating a new way of attacking cancer. By focusing as much on the patient’s well

being as it does on treating the disease, Oncophage is designed to improve cancer therapy.
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CANCER

AROPLATIN™ AND ATRA-IV Antigenics’ Aroplatin and ATRA-IV fit the company’s long-

term goal of creating novel therapies for serious diseases that represent advanced alternatives

to conventional cancer treatments. Both are unique liposomal formulations that offer increased

bicavailability, which is the amount of drug absorbed into the patient's body. Liposomes are
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microscopic spheres composed of lipids or fats that are designed specifically
to encapsulate drugs as a payload, and protect them from degradation inside
the body. By increasing the drug’s bioavailability, treatment effect may also
be extended. In some cases, liposomal drugs have been shown to accumulate
at the site of a tumor, delivering higher concentrations of the drugto a
disease target, making them potentially more target-specific. In addition,
the liposomal delivery system can help to reduce the damaging effects of

some drugs on healthy tissues, markedly improving the drug's safety profile.

Aroplatin is a next generation novel platinum analogue similar to oxaliplatin,
a drug that is widely prescribed in Europe for the treatment of colorectal
cancer. Aroplatin has been designed to substantially reduce the drug
resistance often associated with current platinum drugs. Antigenics is pursuing
indications for Aroplatin in a variety of cancers, and pians to initiate Phase ||
trials in colorectal and pancreatic cancers.

ATRA-V is a lipid-based, intravenous formulation of all-trans-retinoic acid
(ATRA). Retiroids are complex molecules that include both natural and
synthetic derivatives of retinol, otherwise known as vitamin A. ATRA has
already been approved and marketed as an oral formulation for the
treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Antigenics’ liposomal formulation
of ATRA-IV was designed to increase its bioavailability. Antigenics plans to

initiate a Phase Il trial of ATRA-IV in one or more hematological mal.ignancies.

Antigenics’ world-class immune system technology and liposomal encapsulation provide the company

with a significant number of therapeutic alternatives for potential development. For patients

and physicians, the possibility of new treatments for cancer and other serious human diseases are

suddenly well within reach.
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Aroplatin and ATRA-IV are unique
liposomal formulations of existing
classes of compounds designed
to treat a range of cancers with
improved bioavailability compared
with more conventional delivery
methods. Liposomal encapsulation
can make medicines more target-
specific, improve their safety profile
and reduce dosing requirements,
Aroplatin is a third-generation
platinum chemotherapy similar to
oxaliplatin, a compound available
to patients in Europe, Asia and
Latin America for the treatment
of colorectal cancer. ATRA-IV is
the intravenous formulation of
oral ATRA, which has already
been approved by the FDA.



“Unigue liposomal formulations that offer
increased bicavailability.”

Antigenics' liposomal formulation technology has the potential to alter the treatment of a
variety of cancers by delivering medicines into the body with increased bioavailability.
Liposomal encapsulation can make medicines more target-specific,improve their safety profile
and even help simplify patients’ dosing regimens. In the future, these new formulations may

give physicians a unique set of weapons to fight against cancer - and give patients new hope.

Family picnic. Teaching cat’s cradle to Jennie.




QS-21 CURRENT TRIALS

INDICATION STATUS PARTNER ENROLLMENT
Infectious Diseases Hepatitis B Phase Hi GlaxeSmithKline 20
HiV Phase t/i§ Vaxgen 80
Genital Herpes Phase | GlaxoSmithKline 120
Respiratory Virus Phase | Wyeth 60
Malaria Phase I8 GlaxoSmithiKline 250
Cancer Melanoma Phase ill Progenics 987
Melanoma Phase Hi Progenics 1300
Degenerative Disorders Alzheimer’s Disease Phase IIA Elan 375

MALARIA AND HI1V

QS-21 QS-21, part of Antigenics’ family of adjuvants, is a companion compound used in vaccines
to significantly improve the quality of immune response. Q5-21is currently used in products being
developed by several leading pharmaceutical companies to combat a variety of chronic and
debilitating diseases, including malaria, hepatitis B, melanoma and HIV. To date, QS-21 has been tested
in more than 3,000 patients in over 50 clinical trials. As one of the most widely studied adjuvants
in the world, QS-21 has proven its ability to stimulate both antibody and T-cell responses at very low

doses. QS-21 integrates easily with most vaccine formulations.

In April of last year, Antigenics was awarded a grant from the National Institutes of Health to
advance development of a vaccine containing QS-21for the prevention of malaria, one of the
world’s most widespread and dangerous infectious diseases. In fact, Q$-21 scored some early
success with GlaxoSmithKline’s Phase 1B malaria vaccine trial, results of which were recently
published in The Lancet. In June 2001, the news on QS-21 got even better. Antigenics received a U.S.
patent that significantly expanded the number of potential applications for the company’s family
of adjuvants. The patent covers novel combinations of Q5-21 with additional, related adjuvants,
which may be highly useful for vaccine formulations with stringent tolerability requirements, such

as pediatric vaccines.

Other studies of QS-21include two HIV vaccine development programs. Preclinical studies showed that
GlaxoSmithKline's HIV vaccine protected monkeys from infection only when Q5-21was included in

the vaccine formulation. Furthermore, VaxGen demonstrated in human trials of their HIV vaccine that

the addition of Q5-21 reduced by 200-fold the amount of antigen required to induce immune response.

Q5-21 may also help in the fight against possible future bioterrorist threats. Vaccines for pathogens
such as smallpox and anthrax are in short supply. Studies show that adding QS-21 to formulations
could increase vaccine supply and improve cost-effectiveness of vaccine production. Antigenics is
in discussions with vaccine manufacturers and members of the U.S. government regarding the

benefits of QS-21in anti-bioterrorism vaccine development.
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Q5-21 is an immune adjuvant
booster used in a variety of
products under development
for the treatment of diseases
and disorders, including malaria
and HiV.

Malaria is a chronic parasitic
disease spread by the bite of the
female Anopheles mosquito that
affects an estimated 300 million
to 500 million people each year.

HIV is the virus that causes AIDS,
There are up to 900,000 people
infected with HIV in the United
States, with about 40,000 new
HIV infections occurring each year.




To be effective, vaccines need to boost the leve! of patients’immune response.QS-21, Antigenics’

antibody response adjuvant, is used in several products under development to combat a host
of chronic, often deadly diseases, including malaria, HIV and melanoma. To date, Q5-21 has
been studied in more than 3,000 patients in over 50 clinical trials, making it one of the most

widely tested adjuvants in the world.



“An off-the-shelf immunology product using
Antigenics’ heat shock protein technology.”

The spread of sexually transmitted disease is global in nature and unpredictable in its out-
come. Current treatments for genital herpes, a serious viral infection that affects millions
worldwide, offer only symptomatic relief. This family of heat shock protein-based products
is designed to be curative for genital herpes and other infectious diseases. An off-the-shelf

product, AG-702 may be the first in a powerful new class of infectious disease treatments.

BQQsting the immune system
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Herpes Simplex Virus Type 2

is a virus of the Herpesviridae
family that is responsible for
most cases of genital herpes.
The virus causes blisters on the
genitals, similar to cold sores,
accompanied by flu-like symp-
toms. Herpes continues to live
in the body between outbreaks,
and recurrent episodes of
symptoms may occur. Neonatal!
transmission occurs during birth
if the mother is actively shedding
the virus. Infection of the infant
causes severe iliness and has a
high mortality rate. No cure is
available.

GENITAL HERPES

AG-702 Although often overshadowed in the media by other sexually transmitted diseases,
genital herpes remains a serious global problem. A recent report in the New England Journal of
Medicine found that more than 150,000 new cases of genital herpes occur each year in the United
States, and that at least 45 million individuals, or one in five Americans, are
already infected. The World Health Organization estimates that approximately
21 million people worldwide are infected each year. Women infected with the
herpes virus can experience serious complications during childbirth. Herpes
has also been associated with more serious sexually transmitted diseases,
especially HIV infections, because pathogens can gain easy access to the body

through herpes lesions, which can reoccur as many as eight times a year.

While current antiviral medications may reduce the severity of herpes
outbreaks, none stop the infections from reoccurring, and none offer
anything close to a cure. Antigenics’ AG-702, with its highly targeted heat
shock protein technology, has the potential to change the current treatment
paradigm. AG-702 is the company’s first use of heat shock protein technology
in an off-the-shelf immunology product.

Early studies in animals show that AG-702 induces disease-specific
celi-mediated immune responses. These results have been corroborated
by independent academic research demonstrating that heat shock
protein-peptide complexes provide protective immunity against infection
with the genital herpes virus. If AG-702 is shown to activate T cells in
human studies, the result would be a significant advance over previous

herpes vaccine programs.

To determine safety and immune response, a Phase i study of AG-702 is
being conducted in healthy volunteers and patients with genital herpes
at the University of Washington in Seattle, home of the world’s largest herpes
research center. If these studies prove successful, AG-702 may pave the way
for a new generation of safe and effective therapies in the global fight against a variety of serious

infectious diseases.
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DIABETES, ARTHRITIS AND MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

DISCOVERY RESEARCH: CD91 Building on the initial success of Oncophage, Aroplatin
and AG-702, Antigenics’ discovery research continues to develop new compounds that are designed
to be effective, yet less toxic. Our focus is the development and expansion of Antigenics’
complementary core technology platforms. Based on these powerful technologies, our scientists
have begun expanded research into treatments for a variety of cancers, as well as finding new

ways to control the body’s immune system.

S

One of our most innovative research projects is the investigation into the CD91 receptor, the
pathway through which heat shock proteins activate cellular immune response. As a therapeutic
target, the CD91 receptor presents a remarkable opportunity for controlling human immune
response. Although far too early for a definitive answer, the CD91 receptor may be a supremely
elegant method of addressing the unmet challenges of autoimmune diseases such as diabetes,

arthritis and multiple sclerosis.

Drugs that interact with the CD91 pathway can work to open or block that pathway - in effect,
turning part of the body’s immune system on or off. Rather than reprogramming T cells, blocking
the CD91 pathway prevents T-cell activation, which could have a significant impact on autoimmune

diseases, where the body’s Immune system mistakenly attacks itself.

What makes the CD91 receptor so intriguing as a therapeutic target is its unique singularity. While
most receptors have alternative pathways built into their cellular hosts, the CD91 receptor does
not. Blocking the pathway effectively shuts off the immune response, making it a simple but
extremely powerful “on and off” switch. Antigenics is in the process of developing both smalf and
large molecule compounds that interact with the receptor, and expects to move these compounds

into preclinical discovery phase within the next few years.

TECHNOLOGY INDICATIONS

D91 ) Arthritis

p—————1 Multiple Sclerosis

L fDiabetes
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Chairman’s letter

Since its beginning, Antigenics has been defined by our passion to provide new medical
alternatives for patients and physicians. We are challenging current therapeutic norms by
focusing on the development of products that offer less toxic and more effective treatment
options for a host of serious diseases. That passion remains the driving force behind our
work. But our drive to dramatically improve the lives of patients doesn’t stop at the laboratory
door. As a company poised to achieve a major commercialization breakthrough within
the next few years, we have managed our day-to-day affairs as conscientiously and as
rigorously as we have our product pipeline. Whether in the boardroom or the clinic, we
conduct every aspect of our business with the highest ethical standards. As individuals, we

strive for excellence in our work.



The value of our approach has been demonstrated in the success
we have achieved as a company over the last eight years. in 2001,
we reached a number of critical milestones that moved us even

closer to our goal:

1 In October 2001, the FDA designated Oncophage a Fast Track
product for the treatment of renal cell carcinoma, making it
the first personalized cancer vaccine to ever receive that
designation. In January 2002, the agency also designated
Oncophage a Fast Track development program in the treatment
of melanoma. As a result, the agency will expedite the
development and review of Oncophage, currently in Phase |1}
clinical trials for both indications. The action taken by the
FDA represents another milestone in a line of regulatory
achievements for Oncophage, and a further indication of its
potential value to treat cancer. Renal cell carcinoma and
melanoma have a combined market potential of more than

$1 billion annually.

1 InJuly 2001, Antigenics acquired Aronex Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
The acquisition added two advanced-stage cancer products:
Aroplatin, a novel platinum analogue designed to be more
effective than current platinum drugs in treating cancer; and
ATRA-IV, an intravenous formulation of ATRA (all-trans-retinoic
acid) for the treatment of leukemia and other cancers. We plan
to evaluate both compounds in Phase Il clinical trials. The
acquisition also brought a liposomal encapsulation technology
platform to our strategic mix, strengthening Antigenics’ position
as a biopharmaceutical company with multiple approaches to

the treatment of cancer and other serious diseases.

1 We continue to strengthen our management team, adding
talent and depth in areas vital to our long-term commercial
success — regulatory affairs, clinical development and strategic
planning. We appointed Russell Herndon, former head of
Genzyme’s Tissue Repair division, to the position of Chief
Operating Officer. After an impressive first year, Mr. Herndon
became President and COO of Antigenics in early 2002. This
promotion complements a strong management team that
includes Chief Medical Officer Jonathan Lewis, M.D., Ph.D.,

12 Antigenics Inc. and Subsidiaries

and Vice Chairman Etma Hawkins, Ph.D., M.B.A All three bring

a wealth of regulatory and medical affairs experience to the

company — experience that will be instrumental in successfully

moving Antigenics toward its goal of commercialization in the
years ahead.
How We Define Ourselves:
CORE TECHNOLOGIES
Our focus on immunology, cancer and personalized medicine
was not a haphazard choice. They represent vast areas of unmet
medical needs — and areas of significant opportunity where
smart science and medicine can make a difference for patients
and physicians. By focusing on these carefully selected choices,
Antigenics has emerged as one of the most advanced companies
in delivering the potential benefits of personalized medicine to
cancer patients around the world.

Oncophage, our leading product, incorporates all three areas of
focus in a single elegant package, carrying with it the potential
to redefine the practice of modern oncology. Despite recent
advances, current cancer treatments remain unacceptably harsh
and limited in their ability to actually cure the disease. Oncophage
is a totally unique product that avoids the shotgun approach of
traditional chemotherapy. By utilizing multiple antigens derived
directly from the patient’s own cancer, Oncophage potentially
offers compelling therapeutic benefits over other vaccine
approaches. With Oncophage, patients may no longer have to
suffer debilitating treatments that erode their quality of life.

The use of heat shock proteins, our core immunology technology,
remains one of the most effective methods of activating cellular
immune response today. This has been confirmed in our own
preclinical and clinical development, and has quickly gained
prominence across the entire field of oncology. A recent report
published in the Journal of the National Cancer Institute calls
Antigenics’ research the “best integrated, basic science, and
clinical story there is in vaccine research...”

The idea of using the best available technology to produce
better treatments for patients governs our entire approach to

health care:

1 Our QS-21 adjuvant markedly improves immune response to
vaccine antigens and is one of the most widely tested adjuvants
in the world today. For example, GlaxoSmithKline selected QS-21

to be part of a promising malaria vaccine clinical trial program.




1 Aroplatin, currently entering Phase Il trials, represents an
advanced alternative to conventional cancer treatments. An
important pharmaceutical product aimed at major markets
in pancreatic and colon cancers, Aroplatin has great potential

to deliver a proven class of treatments in a novel way.

t ATRA-IV, a liposomal formulation of a treatment for an acute
type of lymphoma, is designed to offer improved bioavailability

compared with the existing oral product.

1 AG-702, another product based on our heat shock protein
technology, represents a new direction in the treatment of
genital herpes. AG-702 is the company’s first use of heat shock
protein technology in an off-the-shelf immunology product
and its first infectious disease indication. With Phase | clinical
testing underway in healthy volunteers and patients diagnosed
with genital herpes, AG-702 is paving the way towards broader
non-personalized use of Antigenics’ heat shock protein
technology.

How We Define Qurselves:
WHERE WE ARE TODAY

In pursuit of our goals, Antigenics has chosen to do most of
the critical research and development work in-house. Our reason
for this is simple: We believe we can do things better and more
efficiently.

As a company, we are entrepreneurial, driven by excellence,
high performance and a strong sense of collaboration.

As a matter of good business, we operate with the highest
degree of integrity in everything we do.

As a health care company, we work to deliver new therapeutic
solutions in creative ways.

Because of all this, the end results of our work are better for

patients, better for doctors and better for our shareholders.

How We Define Ourselves:
WHERE WE WILL BE IN THE FUTURE

This is why we’re excited by what we've achieved today, and by
what we plan to achieve in the future.

Well into our first decade as a company, we have a number
of innovative products in three key disease states with the potential
to improve patients’ lives while helping reduce associated health
care costs, currently estimated at $138.4 billion annually. Our
balance sheet is robust, our cash position solid. In January of this
year, we raised $60 million through the sale of 4 million shares
of Antigenics stock, giving us over $100 million in cash on hand.

Our lead product Oncophage has received Fast Track designation
by the FDA. We have a commercial-scale manufacturing facility
in place that can produce enough Oncophage for 10,000 patients
annually - our estimated first two years of production. We have
two other late stage products, and at least one groundbreaking
discovery with our CD91 technology, a therapeutic target that
offers a remarkable opportunity for controlling the body's immune
response. Although still in the laboratory, the CD91 receptor
represents an innovative approach to a variety of difficult, and
currently untreatable, autoimmune diseases, including
diabetes, arthritis and multiple sclerosis. In addition to our own
research and development work, we have several active
development partnerships with leading pharmaceutical firms,
including GlaxoSmithKline and Wyeth.

Even more remarkably, we achieved all this at a cost of less
than $100 million since inception.

The year 2001 was one of great accomplishment. The year
2002 will be one of transformation, a time when the results of
our hard work begin to take shape. The goals we have set for the
year are numerous, the milestones challenging, the work rigorous
and rewarding - for our employees, our shareholders, and the
patients and physicians we expect to serve in the near future.
With the right blend of financial, management and scientific
resources already in place, we have everything we need to reach

our goals and to reap a harvest rich in results.

/Ao

GARO H. ARMEN, PH.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

We have derived the consolidated balance sheet data set forth below
as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the consolidated statement
of operations data for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2001, from our audited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this annual report. We have derived the con-
solidated balance sheet data as of December 31,1997,1998, and 1999,
and the consolidated statement of operations data for each of the
years ended December 31,1997 and 1998 from our audited consolidated
financial statements, which are not included in this annual report.
These consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG
LLP, independent auditors.

You should read the selected consolidated financial data in con-

junction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial
statements and the notes to those consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this report.
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~ Recapping the year’s

financial results

Given our history of incurring operating losses, management believes
that it is more likely than not that any deferred tax assets, net of
deferred tax liabilities, will not be realized. Therefore, there is no income
tax benefit in the consolidated financial statements for periods ended
after February 2000 because of a loss before income taxes and the
need to recognize a valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets.

Increases in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, total
current assets, total assets, and stockholders’ equity in the periods
presented below include the effects of the receipt of net proceeds from
our equity offerings and the exercise of stock options and warrants
that totaled approximately $7.6 million, $18.0 million, $41.1 million,
$66.8 million, and $0.9 million in 1997,1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001.




(in thousands, except per share data) 1997 1998 1999 2000 200

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Revenue S - 5 — 5 581 $ 443 $ 4555
Operating expenses:
Cost of goods sold — —_ — (363) (1,064)
Research and development (2,725) (5,947) {11,958) (17,575) (31,357)
General and administrative (1,589) (3,693) (7,480) (9,190) (13,762)
Acquired in-process research and development® — — —_ (25,800) (34,596)
Loss from operations . (4,314) (9,640) (18,857) (52,485) (76,224)
Interest income, net 481 736 723 5,756 2,683
Non-operating income - — 10 — —
Net loss® s (3.833) $  (8,904) $ (18124) $ (46,729) $ (73,541)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted S (0.25) s (054) $  (1.00) $ (1.90) S (281
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding, basic and dituted 15,401 16,459 18,144 24,659 28,143
(in thousands) 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 13,086 S 2268 S 46,418 $ 99139 $ 60,868
Total current assets 13,246 22,447 47,672 101,593 63,987
Total assets 14,090 26,636 56,004 127,966 93,546
Total current liabilities 878 2,285 21N 8,61 16,208
Long-term liabilities, less current portion — 709 : 2,155 2,651 1,414
Stockholders’ equity 13,212 23,641 51,678 116,703 75,925

(1) We recorded non-recurring charges to operations for the write-off of in-process research and development acquired in our mergers with Aquila Biopharmaceuticals Inc.
in November 2000 and with Aronex Pharmaceuticals fnc. in July 2001.

(2) Prior to our conversion from a limited liability company to a corporation in February 2000, in accordance with federal, state, and local income tax regulations which provide
that no income taxes are levied on United States limited liability companies, each member of the limited liability company was individually responsible for reporting
its share of the company’s net income or loss. Accordingly, we have not provided for income taxes in our financial statements for periods before February 2000. Given
our history of incurring operating losses, no income tax benefit is recognized in our financial statements for periods after February 2000 because of a loss before income
taxes and the need to recognize a valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are currently developing treatments for cancers, serious infectious
diseases, and autoimmune and degenerative disorders using our pro-
prietary technologies that program the immune system and improve
quality of life. Since our inception in March 1994, our activities have
primarily been associated with the development of our heat shock
protein technology and our lead therapeutic vaccine, Oncophage. Our
business activities have included product research and development,
intellectual property prosecution, establishing manufacturing capabili-
ties, manufacturing therapeutic vaccines for clinical trials, regulatory
and clinical affairs, and integration of our acquisitions.

During the third quarter ended September 30, 2001, we completed
our merger with Aronex Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The stock acquisition,
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, resulted in
the issuance of approximately 1.5 million shares of our common stock
based on an exchange ratio of 0.0594 per share of our common stock
for each outstanding share of Aronex Pharmaceuticals common stock.
Through this merger, we acquired Aroplatin and ATRA — IV, which are
unigue liposomal formulations that increase the distribution and
metabolism of drugs in a patient’s body. These two products fit our
leng-term goal of creating novel therapies for serious diseases, that
represent advanced alternatives to conventional cancer treatments.

During the fourth quarter of 2000 we completed our merger with
Aguila Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. The stock acquisition, accounted for
using the purchase method of accounting, resulted in the issuance of
approximately 2.5 million shares of our common stock based on an
exchange ratio of 0.2898 shares of our stock for each outstanding
share of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals stock. Through this merger we
acquired QS-21, a companion compound used in vaccines intended to
significantly improve the quality of immune response. Q5-211is being
developed by several leading pharmaceutical companies to combat a
variety of chronic and debilitating diseases.

We have incurred significant losses since our inception. To date, we
have generated product sales revenues from one product. Our revenues
from this product were $1,606,000 and $363,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. During the year ended
December 31,2001, we also had revenues of $2,949,000 consisting of
shipments of our QS-21 adjuvant to our research partners, and mile-
stone revenue and grant payments earned. As of December 31, 2001,
we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $157,887,000 inclu-
sive of non-cash charges of $60,396,000 for acquired in-process
research and development and $13,739,000 related to grants of stock
options, warrants and common stock. We do not expect to generate
significant revenues until the fourth quarter of 2004 and thus, we
expect to continue to incur net losses as we complete our clinical trials,
apply for regulatory approvals, build a sales force and marketing
department, continue development of our technology and expand
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our operations. We have been dependent on equity and debt financ-

ings to fund our current business activities. Our financial results may

vary depending on many factors, including:

1 the progress of Oncophage and our other product candidates
through the clinical development and regulatory process;

0 the advancement of other product candidates into preclinical and
clinical trials;

o our investment in manufacturing process development and in man-
ufacturing capacity for Oncophage and other product candidates;

1 development of a sales and marketing staff and initial sales activities
if Oncophage is approved for commercialization;

@ the progress of our other research and development efforts;
1 the integration of our prior acquisitions and any future acquisitions.

HISTORICAL RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,2001 Compared to

the Year Ended December 31, 2000

Revenue: As a result of the acquisition of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals,
Inc. in November 2000, we generated $1,606,000 and $363,000 of
product revenue during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.
We had $2,949,000 and $80,000 of research and development revenue
during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. Product revenues
consist of sales of our feline leukemia vaccine to our marketing partner
Virbac, S.A., a French company that has exclusive worldwide rights to
market the product. The agreement with Virbac, S.A. is up for renewal
in July 2002. If this agreement is not renewed we may not generate
further revenues from the sale of this product, the only product we
sell. Revenues from research and development activities consist of
shipments of our adjuvant QS-21 to be used in clinical trials by our
partners and, in 2001, milestone and grant payments earned. Under
the terms of our license agreement with Neuralab Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Elan Corporation, p.l.c., we received a $1,000,000
milestone payment in 2001 related to their initiation of a Phase I1A
clinical trial of a product using QS-21. In March 2002, Elan halted the
dosing of patients with this product after several patients experienced
significant adverse side effects.

Cost of Sales: Cost of sales, which is related entirely to product revenue,
was $1,064,000 for the year ended December 37, 2001. Cost of sales
was $363,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. For the years
ended December 31,2001 and 2000, cost of sales were 66% and 100%,
respectively, of product sales. Cost of sales in 2000 represented the
cost of inventory acquired in our merger with Aquila Biopharmaceuticals
that was adjusted to its fair value as a result of the application of
purchase accounting rules.

Research and Development: Research and development expense
increased 78% to $31,357,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007,
from $17,575,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. The Aquila
Biopharmaceuticals and Aronex Pharmaceuticals acquisitions increased
research costs by $6,855,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001.
The increase was also due to the costs associated with cur Oncophage
clinical trials that increased $3,345,000 over the year ended December
31,2000, particularly due to the initiation of our Phase Il clinical trial




in kidney cancer. Increases in our staff to support our expanded research
and development activities resulted in increasing costs by $3,052,000.
Other ongoing development activities were $844,000 higher than in
2000.These increases were partially offset by the decrease in the non-
cash charge for options granted and earned by outside advisors, direc-
tors, and employees from $1,097,000 for the year ended December 31,
2000, to $783,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001. Research and
development expenses consist primarily of compensation for employees
and outside advisors conducting research and development work,
funding paid to institutions, including the University of Connecticut
where we sponsor research, costs associated with the operation of
our manufacturing and laboratory facilities, funding paid te support
our clinical trials, expenses related to grant revenue recongnized, and
the cost of clinical materials shipped to our research partners.

Acquired In-Process Research and Development: Acquired in-process
research and development of $34,596,000 in 2001 was a non-recurring,
non-cash charge related to our merger with Aronex Pharmaceuticals.
A similar non-recurring, non-cash charge of $25,800,000 was recog-
nized in 2000 related to our merger with Aquila Biopharmaceuticals.
A component of the total purchase price of each merger was allocated
to incomplete acquired technologies under development but not yet
technologically feasible or commercialized and expensed at acquisition
date. At the date of the acquisitions, none of the products under
development by Aquila Biopharmaceuticals or Aronex Pharmaceuticals
that were included in our in-process research and development charge
had achieved technological feasibility and none were being sold on
the market. There still remained substantial risks and significant
uncertainty concerning the remaining course of technical development.
We need to conduct extensive additional research, preclinical and
clinical testing of these products, and obtain regulatory approval prior
to any commercialization. Because of the great uncertainty associated
with these issues and the remaining effort associated with develop-
ment of these products, the development projects had not established
technological feasibility at the acquisition date. Further, these partially
completed products had no alternative future uses at the valuation
date if the contemplated programs were to fail, as the technology
was highly specialized to the targeted products. The acquired in-process
research and development charges and related accounting is further
described in Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements included
in this report.

General and Administrative: General and administrative expenses
increased 50% to $13,762,000 for the year ended December 317, 2001,
from $9,190,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. The Aquila
Biopharmaceuticals and Aronex Pharmaceuticals acquisitions increased
general and administrative costs by $2,252,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The increase was also due to the growth in the
number of employees to suppert our expanded business operations,
which increased costs by $2,013,000, increased corporate office expens-

es related to this growth of $485,000, increased legal fees of $350,000,
and other increases in our general and administrative expenses, which
were $400,000 higher for the year ended December 31,2001 than for
the same period in 2000. These increases were partially offset by the
decrease in the non-cash charge for options granted and earned by
outside advisors, directors, and employees to $440,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2007, from $1,368,000 for the year ended December
31,2000. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of
personnel compensation, office expenses, and professional fees.

Interest expense: Interest expense increased 62% to $690,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2007, from $425,000 for the year ended
December 31,2000 due to the additional borrowings we assumed in
the Aquila Biopharmaceuticals and Aronex Pharmaceuticals acquisitions.

Interest Income: Interest income decreased 45% to $3,374,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2001, from $6,181,000 for the year ended

December 31, 2000. This decrease is attributable to declining interest
rates during 2001 as well as decreasing average cash and cash equiv-
alents and interest-bearing marketable securities balances during the
year ended December 31,2001, as compared to the year ended December
31,2000. Our average interest rate decreased from 6.12% for the year
ended December 31,2000, to 3.90% for the year ended December 31,
2001, representing an approximate loss of interest income of $2,200,000.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to

the Year Ended December 31, 1999

Revenue: We had $363,000 of product revenue and $80,000 of research
and develcpment revenue during the year ended December 31, 2000.
We had $581,000 of research and development revenues for the year
ended December 31,1999. The revenues in 2000 resulted from sales
of product and research and development activities related solely to
Aquila Biopharmaceuticals for the period from the merger (November 16,
2000) to December 31, 2000. Research and development revenues in
1999 consisted of amounts received under research and development
contracts that are non-refundable.

Cost of Sales: Cost of sales was $363,000 for the year ended December
31, 2000. We had no cost of sales for the year ended December 31,
1999. For the year ended December 31,2000, cost of sales was 100%
of product sales.

Research and Development: Research and development expenses
increased 47% to $17,575,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000,
from $11,958,000 for the year ended 1999. The increase was primarily
due to the increase in staff to support our expanded research and
development activities, increasing costs by $3,717,000. Costs of oper-
ating the manufacturing and research facility were $1,017,000 higher
in 2000 than for the year ended December 31,1999, as were costs
associated with our clinical trials, which increased $621,000 over 1999.
The Aquila Biopharmaceuticals acquisition increased research costs
by $586,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. Other increases
in our ongoing development activities were $393,000 higher than in
1999. These increases were partially offset by the decrease in the non-
cash charge for options granted and earned by outside advisors, directors,
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and employees from $1,814,000 for the year ended December 37,1999,
to $1,097,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. Research and
development expenses consisted primarily of compensation for employ-
ees and outside advisors conducting research and development work,
funding paid to the University of Connecticut, where we sponsor
research, costs associated with the operation of our manufacturing
and laboratory facilities and funding paid to support Oncophage
clinical trials.

Acquired In-process Research and Development: Acquired in-process
research and development of $25,800,000 was a non-recurring, non-
cash charge related to our merger with Aquila Biopharmaceuticals.
The purchase price of the merger (544,819,000) was partially charged
to incomplete technology due to the early stage of the acquired
technologies under development, but not yet technologically feasible
or commetcialized.

General and Administrative: General and administrative expenses
increased 23% to $9,190,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000,
from $7,480,000 for the year ended December 31,1999. The increase
was primarily due to the growth in the number of employees to
support our expanded business operations that increased costs by
$771,000, legal expenses related to general corporate and patent
activities were $662,000 higher for the year ended December 31,
2000, as compared to the same period in 1999 and increased costs
related to operating as a public company were $436,000 in 2000. The
Aquila Biopharmaceuticals acquisition increased general and
administrative costs by $463,000 for the year ended December 31,
2000. These increases were partially offset by the decrease in the
non-cash charge for options granted and earned by outside advisors,
directors, and employees to $1,368,000 for the year ended December
31,2000, from $3,213,000 for the year ended December 31,1999.
General and administrative expenses consisted primarily of personnel
compensation, office expenses, and professional fees.

Interest Expense: Interest expense increased 46% to $425,000 for
the year ended December 31,2000, from $291,000 for the year ended
December 31,1999, due to the increased borrowings under a credit
facility to partially fund the construction of our manufacturing and
laboratory facilities.

Interest Income: Interest income increased 510% to $6,181,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2000, from $1,014,000 for the year ended
December 1999. This increase was principally attributable to a higher
average cash and cash equivalents batance during the year ended
December 31, 2000, as compared to the year ended December 31,1999,
as a result of the net proceeds of $38,922,000 from a private equity
financing completed in November 1999 and $66,229,000 from our
initial public offering completed in February 2000.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have incurred annual operating losses since inception and, as of
December 31, 2001, we have incurred an accumulated deficit of
$157,887,000 inclusive of non-cash charges of $60,396,000 for acquired
in-process research and development and $13,739,000 related to
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grants of stock options, warrants, and common stock. Since our inception,
we have financed our operaticns primarily through the sale of equity,
interest income earned on cash and cash equivalent balances and debt
provided through a credit line secured by some of our manufacturing
and laboratory assets. From our inception through December 31,2001,
we raised aggregate net proceeds of $146,995,000 through the sale
of equity and the exercise of stock options and warrants, and borrowed
$3,481,000 under our $5,000,000 credit facility. We also assumed term
loan agreements and a convertible note payable with a combined
outstanding balance at the respective merger dates, of $6,159,000

in connection with the acquisitions of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals
and Aronex Pharmaceuticals. In November 2001, we filed a Form 5-3
universal registration statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the registration and potential issuance of up to $100
million of our securities. In January 2002, we sold 4,000,000 shares of
our common stock for net proceeds of approximately $56,000,000. We
intend to use the proceeds of this sale to fund additional clinical tri-
als of our lead product and for clinical trials and preclinical studies
for our other product candidates; to expand our manufacturing capa-
bilities; for potential licenses and other acquisitions of complementary
technologies and products; and for working capital and other general
corporate purposes. We expect that we will be able to fund our capital
expenditures and growing operations with our current working capital”
through the first quarter of 2004. In order to fund our needs subse-
quently, we will be required to raise money in the capital markets,
through arrangements with corporate partners, or from other sources.
Our ability to successfully enter into any arrangements is uncertain
and if funds are not available we may be required to revise our planned
clinical trials and other development activities and capital requirements.
Furthermore, we will continue to conservatively manage our cash
position and expect to attempt to raise additional funds substantially
in advance of depleting our current funds.

Our future cash requirements include, but are not limited to, supporting
our clinical trial efforts and continuing our other research and devel-
opment programs, including increased expenses associated with the
development of the technologies and product pipeline acquired as
a result of the Aquila Biopharmaceuticals and Aronex Pharmaceuticals
transactions. Since inception, we have entered into various agreements
with institutions to conduct our current clinical studies. Under these
agreements, subject to the enroliment of patients and performance by
the institution of certain services, we have estimated our payments
to be approximately $7,700,000 over the term of the studies. Through
December 31,2001, $2,416,000 has been expensed as research and
development expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations and $2,019,000 has been paid, related to these clinical
studies. The timing of our expense recognition and future payments
related to these agreements are subject to the enrollment of patients
and performance by the institution of certain services. In addition,
we have entered into research agreements related to our products
that require payments of approximately $2,800,000, of which $1,275,000




has been paid through December 31, 2001. Significant additional
expenditures will be required as we complete our clinical trials, apply
for regulatory approvals, continue development of our technologies
and expand our operations and bring our products to market. Part of
our strategy is to develop and commercialize some of our products by
continuing our existing collaborative arrangements and by entering
into new collaborations. As a result of coliaborative agreements, we
do not and will not completely control the nature, timing or cost of
bringing those products to market. We have entered into license
agreements that call for milestone and royalty payments by our cor-
porate partners, which may or may not be achieved. Satisfying long-
term liquidity needs will require the successful commercialization of
Oncophage or other products and may require additional capital, as
discussed above.

Our cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2001, were $60,868,000,
a decrease of $35,275,000 from December 31, 2000. During the year
ended December 31, 2001, we used cash primarily to finance operations,
including our Oncophage clinical trials. Net cash used in operating
activities for the years ended December 31,2000 and 2001, was
$15,134,000 and $36,826,000, respectively. The increase resulted from
the increase in the activity of our Oncophage clinical trials, on-going
development activity, development of acquired technologies and the
general expansion of our research and administrative operations. As
we develop our technologies and further our clinical trials, we expect
to increase our spending. Our future ability to generate cash from
operations will depend on achieving regulatory approval of our prod-
ucts, market acceptance of such products, achieving benchmarks as
defined in existing collaborative agreements, and our ability to enter
into new collaborations. We expect to first generate significant revenues
from our lead product Oncophage during the fourth quarter of 2004
and first generate cash from operations in 2005.

Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December
31,2001, was $2,990,000 as compared to net cash used in investing
activities of $1,625,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. For the
year ended December 31, 2001, we invested $1,665,000 for the purchase
of equipment, furniture and fixtures and an additional $525,000 was
contributed to a limited partnership, of which we became a member
during the second quarter of 2000. Our remaining commitment to
this limited partnership on December 31, 2001, was $2,175,000 with
contributions made as authorized by the general partner. These
expenditures were offset by proceeds from the sale of marketable
securities of $2,997,000 and the net cash acquired in the Aronex
Pharmaceuticals merger of $2,184,000. We anticipate additional
capital expenditures ranging from $3,500,000 to $5,500,000 in
2002 to expand and enhance our current facilities.

Net cash used in financing activities was $1,439,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2001, as compared to net cash provided by financing

activities of $66,484,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. Since
inception, our primary source of financing has been from equity sales.
During the years ended December 31,2000 and 2001, sales of equity

and exercises of stock options and warrants totaled approximately
$67,390,000 and $920,000, respectively. At December 31, 2001, we

had outstanding $3,596,000 under our credit facilities (52,230,000
was repaid during 2001), which were used to finance the construction
of our manufacturing and laboratory facilities and to purchase related
equipment. Loans that were drawn down on the credit facilities are
secured by specific assets, including leasehold improvements, which
they finance. At December 31, 2001, we had $2,500,000 outstanding
under a convertible note payable that matures in May 2002. This note
can be converted into our common stock at $73.23 per share at the
option of the note holder. At December 31, 2001, the current portion
of our long-term debt was $5,902,000. Our future minimum payments
on non-cancelable leases, before any sub-lease income are in 2002 -
$3,579,000; in 2003 - $3,209,000; in 2004 - $2,324,000; in 2005 ~
$2,324,000; in 2006 —$2,344,000 and thereafter ~ $4,490,000.

We are currently involved in certain legal proceedings as detailed in
Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements. We do not believe
these proceedings will have a material adverse effect on cur conscli-
dated financial position.

OTHER

Risk Factors

Our future operating results could differ from the results described
above due to the risk and uncertainties described in exhibit 99.1 to
our Annual Report on Farm 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) recently issued dis-
closure guidance for “critical accounting policies.” The SEC defines
critical accounting policies as those that require application of man-
agement’s most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments, often as a
result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that
are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods.

The following listing is not intended to be a comprehensive list of all
of our accounting policies. Our significant accounting policies are more
fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements. in
many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is
dictated by generally accepted accounting principles, with no need
for management’s judgment in their application. There are also areas
in which management'’s judgment in selecting an available alternative
would not produce a materially different result.

We have identified the following as our critical accounting policies:
research and development, investments, revenue recognition, and
option accounting.

Research and development expenses include the costs associated with
our internal research and development activities, including salaries
and benefits, occupancy costs, clinical manufacturing costs, adminis-
trative costs, and research and development conducted for us by out-
side advisors, such as sponsored university-based research partners,
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and clinical study partners. In addition, research and development
expenses include expenses related to grant revenue and the cost of
clinical trial materials shipped to our research partners. Research and
development costs are expensed as incurred and was $11,958,000,
$17,575,000, and $31,357,000 for the years ended December 31,1399,
2000, and 2001.

A component of the purchase price of our two mergers was allocated
to incomplete acquired technologies under development but not yet
technologically feasible or commercialized and was expensed at each
acquisition date {$25,800,000 in 2000, and $34,596,000 in 2001).
The valuation of this acquired in-process research and development
represents the estimated fair value of products under development
calculated using an income approach. This approach involves estimating
the fair value of the acquired in-process research and development
using the present value of the estimated after-tax cash flows expected
to be generated by the purchased in-process research and develop-
ment projects.

We classify investments in marketable securities at the time of pur-
chase. At December 31,2000 and 2001, all marketable securities were
classified as available-for-sale and, as such, changes in the fair value
of the available-for-sale securities are reported as a separate compo-
nent of accumulated other comprehensive income until realized. If
we were to classify future investments as trading securities rather
than available-for-sale, our financial results would be subject to greater
volatility. Investments of less than 20% of the voting control of com-
panies or other entities over whose operating and financial policies
we do not have the power to exercise significant influence, are
accounted for by the cost method. Pursuant to this method, we cur-
rently account for our investment in a limited partnership under the
cost method and, as of December 31, 2001, we have included in non-
current other assets on the consolidated balance sheet, $825,000 of
our total commitment to this partnership of $3,000,000 as more fully
disclosed in Note 5 to our consclidated financial statements. The
general partner of the limited partnership determines the timing of
our additional contributions. Our investment represents an approxi-
mate ownership of 2%. We continue to assess the realizabilitiy of this
investment. In order to assess whether or not there has been an other
than temporary decline in the value of this investment, we analyze
several factors including: (i) the carrying value of the limited partner-
ship’s investments in its portfolio companies, (i) how recently the
investments in the portfolio companies had been made, (iii} the post-
financing valuations of those investments, (iv) the level of un-invested
capital held by the limited partnership, and (v) the overall trend in
venture capital valuations. Based on this analysis, as of December 31,
2007, our cost appropriately reflects the carrying value of our investment.

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the time of product
shipment. Revenue for services under research and development
grants and contracts are recognized as the services are performed,
milestones are achieved, or clinical trial materials are provided.

We account for options granted to employees and directors in accor-
dance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock fssued to Employees, and related interpretations.
As such, compensation expense is recorded on fixed stock option
grants only if the current fair value of the underlying stock exceeds
the exercise price of the option at the date of grant and it is recog-
nized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. We account for
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stock options granted to non-employees on a fair-value basis in
accordance with SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. $6-18, Accounting for Equity
instruments That Are issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or
in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services. As a result, the non-cash
charge to operations for non-employee options with vesting or other
performance criteria is affected each reporting period by changes in
the fair value of our common stock. As required, we also provide pro
forma net loss and pro forma net loss per common share disclosures
for employee and director stock option grants as if the fair-value-based
method defined in SFAS No. 123 had been applied (see Note 10 to cur
consolidated financial statements).

The preparation of consclidated financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management
bases its estimates on historical experience and on various assump-
tions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations,
and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 141
requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for ali busi-
ness combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, as well as all pur-
chase method business combinations completed after June 30, 2001,
SFAS No. 141 also specifies the criteria intangible assets acquired in a
purchase method business combination must meet to be recognized
and reported apart from goodwill, noting that any purchase price
allocable to an assembled workforce may not be accounted for sepa-
rately. SFAS No.142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead that they
be tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No.142. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible
assets with finite useful lives be amortized over their respective esti-
mated useful lives to their estimated residual values, and reviewed
for impairment in accordance with SFAS Ne. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (discussed below).

We adopted the provisions of SFAS 141 beginning July 1,2001, and will
adopt SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002. Goodwill and intangible
assets acquired in business combinations completed before July 1, 2001,
continues to be amortized prior to the adoption of SFAS No.142.

SFAS No. 141 will require upon adoption of SFAS No. 142 that we eval-
uate our existing intangible assets and goodwill that were acquired
in prior purchase business combinations, and that we make any nec-
essary reclassifications in order to conform with the new criteria in
SFAS No. 141 for recognition apart from goodwill. Upon adoption of
SFAS No. 142, we will be required to reassess the useful lives and residual
values of all intangible assets acquired in purchase business combina-
tions, and make any necessary amortization period adjustments by the
end of the first interim period after adoption. In addition, to the extent
an intangible asset is identified as having an indefinite useful life, we
will be required to test the intangible asset for impairment in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142 within the first interim period.
Any impairment loss will be measured as of the date of adoption and




recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
in the first interim period.

In connection with the transitional goodwill impairment evaluation,
SFAS No.142 will require us to perform an assessment of whether
there is an indication that goodwill is impaired as of the date of
adoption. Any transitional impairment loss will be recognized as the
cumutative effect of a change in accounting principle in our consoli-
dated statement of operations.

As of December 31,2001, we have unamortized goodwill in the amount
of 2,756,000 and unamortized other intangible assets in the amount
of $10,504,000, all of which will be subject to the transition provisions
of SFAS No. 142. Amortization expense related to goodwill and other
intangible assets was $91,000 and $1,323,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively. Because of the effort needed
to comply with adopting SFAS No. 142, it is not practicable to reasonably
estimate the impact of adoption on our consolidated financial state-
ments at the date of this report, including whether any transitional
impairment losses will be required to be recognized as the cumulative

effect of a change in accounting principle. N
\

in August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Boa% (FASB) issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {SFAS) No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. This statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets. This statement supersedes SFAS No. 121,
Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to Be Disposed Of. This statement establishes an accounting
model for impairment or disposal of long-lived assets by sale. SFAS
No.144 is required to be adopted beginning January 1, 2002. We have
not determined the impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS No. 144 will
have on our financial position or results of operation.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES

ABOUT MARKET RISK

in the normal course of business, we are exposed to fluctuations in
interest rates as we seek debt financing to make capital expenditures.
We do not employ specific strategies, such as the use of derivative
instruments or hedging, to manage our interest rate exposures.
Further, we do not expect our market risk exposures to change in the
near term.

The information below summarizes our market risks associated with

debt obligations as of December 31, 2001. Fair values included herein

have been estimated taking into consideration the nature and terms

of each instrument and the prevailing economic and market conditions
at December 31, 2001. The table presents cash flows by year of maturity
and related interest rates based on the terms of the debt.

CARRYING
AMOUNT YEAR OF MATURITY
ESTIMATED DECEMBER 31, —_————
FAIR VALUE 2001 2002 2003
Long-term debt "' ® $3,735,000 $3,596,000 $3,402,000 $194,000
Convertible debt
(fixed interest at 10%) $2,500,000 $2,500,000 $2,500,000

(1) Fixed interest rates from 10.38% to 15.084%

(2) We have included in our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2001, $287,000
of debt scheduled to mature in the years 2003 and 2004 as current. This debt relates
to the Aronex Pharmaceuticals term notes, which we are required to pay in total
during 2002 as described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, we have cash equivalents and marketable securities at
December 31,2001, which are exposed to the impact of interest rate
changes and our interest income fluctuates as our interest rate
changes. Due to the short-term nature of our investments in com-
mercial paper, government backed securities and money market
funds, our carrying value approximates the fair value of these invest-
ments at December 31,2001

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements, including
statements regarding the timing of clinical trials, the safety and effi-
cacy of our product candidates, our future research and development
activities, estimates of the potential markets for our products, estimates
of the capacity of manufacturing and other facilities to support our
products, our expected future revenues, operations and expenditures,
projected cash needs and the timing of sales. These statements are
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results
to differ materially from those that are projected in these forward-
looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, among
others:

(=]

our ability to successfully complete preclinical and clinical develop-
ment of our products, which incfudes enrolling sufficient patients
in our clinical trials and demonstrating the safety and efficacy of
our product candidates in such trials;

o

our ability to manufacture sufficient amounts of our products for
clinical trials and commercialization activities;

=1

our ability to obtain, maintain and successfully enforce adequate
patent and other proprietary rights protection of our products;

=]

the content and timing of submissions to and decisions made by
the FDA and other regulatory agencies, including demonstrating to
the satisfaction of the FDA the safety and efficacy of our product
candidates;

[=]

our ability to develop a sales and marketing staff and the success
of their selling efforts;

=]

the accuracy of our estimates of the size and characteristics of the
markets to be addressed by our products; and

=]

our ability to obtain reimbursement for our products from third-
party payers, and the extent of such coverage.

We have included more detailed descriptions of these risks and uncer-
tainties and other risks and uncertainties applicable to our business
in Exhibit 99.1,“Risk Factors,” to our Annual Report on Form 10-K. We
encourage you to read those descriptions carefully. We caution
investors not to place undue reliance on forward-locking statements
contained in this document; such statements need to be evaluated in
light of all information contained in the document. Furthermore, the
statements speak only as of the date of this document, and we under-
take no obligation to update or revise these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,2000 and 2001 2000 2001
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents S 96,142,726 $ 60,867508
Marketable securities 2,996,750 -
Accounts receivable 532,896 487,382
Inventories 669,618 1,372,229
Prepaid expenses 619,324 641326
Deferred offering costs - 128,334
Other assets 631,095 490,37
Due from related party 376 -

Total current assets 101,592,785 63,987,150
Plant and equipment, net 14,640,281 13,934,154
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $24,895 and $334,825

at December 31,2000 and 2001, respectively 2,962,472 2,755,870
Core and developed technology, net of accumulated amortization of )

$51,667 and $894,443 at December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively 6,148,333 10,178,130
Assembled workforce, net of accumulated amortization of $14,167 and

$184,167 at December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively 495,833 325,833
Other assets 2,125,996 2,365,292
Total assets $ 127965700 $ 93,546,429

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accounts payable $ 2,273,631 S 2,948,417
Accrued liabilities 4,002,983 7,357,434
Current portion, long-term debt 2,334,646 5,901,816

Total current liabilities 8,611,260 16,207,667
Long-term debt 2,642,869 194,407
Other long-term liabilities 8,090 1,219,237

Commitments and contingencies

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 1,000,000 shares authorized;
no shares issued and outstanding - -

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 100,000,000
shares authorized; 27,316,295 and 29,014,616 shares issued

and outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively 273,162 290,145
Additional paid-in capital 202,253,314 234,238,809
Deferred compensation (1,2773357) (529,547)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (199,711) (187,706)
Accumulated deficit (84,345,927) (157,886,583)
Total stockholders’ equity 116,703,481 75,925,118
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 127,965,700 S 93,546,429

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the years ended December 31,1939, 2000 and 2001 1999 2000 2001
Revenue
Product sales 5 - $ 363,202 S 1,605,722
Research and development 581,461 79,425 2,949,239
Total revenues 581,461 442,627 4,554,961
Expenses:
Cost of Sales - (363,202) (1,064,381)
Research and development:
Related party (33,000) (61,066) -)
Other (11,925,317) (17,514,078) (31,357,223)
(11,958,317) (17.575,144) (31,357,223)
General and administrative:
Related party (248,000) (207,457) -)
Other (7232,032) (8,982,150) (13,761,628)
(7,480,032) {9,189,607) (13,761,628)
Acquired in-process research
and development - (25,800,000) (34,595,747)
Total operating loss (18,856,888) (52,485,326) (76,224,018)
Other income:
Non-operating income 10,000 - -
interest income 1,014,008 6,180,798 3,373,824
Interest expense (291,397) (424,646) (690,462)
Net loss S (18,124,277) S (46,729,174) S (73,540,656)
Net loss per common share,
basic and diluted 5 (1.00) s (1.90) $ (2.67)
Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding, basic and diluted 18,143,966 24,658,802 28,142,598

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

COMMON STOCK

NUMBER

For the years ended December 31,1999, 2000 and 2001 OF SHARES PAR VALUE
Balance at December 31,1998 17,895,623 S 178,956
Net loss ~ -
Payment of subscription notes receivable - -
Deferred compensation on stock options - -
Grant and recognition of stock options - -
Exercise of stock options 1,720 17
Issuance of common stock in private placement in January 1999, $11.17 per share 9,806 98
Issuance of common stock and warrants in private placement on

November 30,1999, $13.96 per share (net of issuance costs of $293,000) 2,808,793 28,088
Balance at December 31,1998 20,715,942 207,159
Comprehensive loss

Net loss - -

Unrealized loss on marketable securities - -

Comprehensive loss - -

Deferred compensation on stock options - -
Grant and recognition of stock options and warrants - -
Exercise of stock options and warrants 66,637 666
Issuance of common stock in initial public offering on

February 9, 2000, $18 per share (net of issuance costs of $6,220,830) 4,025,000 40,250
Issuarnce of common stock in merger on November 16, 2000, $15.98 per share 2,497,934 24,879
Stock options and warrants exchanged in merger on November 16, 2000 - -
Employee stock purchase program 10,782 108
Balance at December 31,2000 27,316,295 273,162
Comprehensive loss

Net loss - -

Unrealized gain on marketable securities - -

Comprehensive loss - -

Grant and recognition of stock options - -
Exercise of stock options and warrants 130,786 1308
Issuance af common stock in merger on July 12, 2001, $18.505 per share 1,547,824 15,478
Stock options and warrants exchanged in merger on July 12, 2001 - -
Employee stock purchase program 19,71 197
Balance at December 31, 2001 29,014,616 $ 290,145

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ADDITIONAL SUBSCRIPTION DEFERRED ACCUMULATED OTHER ACCUMULATED
- PAID-IN CAPITAL NOTES RECEIVABLE COMPENSATION COMPREHENSIVE LOSS DEFICIT TOTAL
$ 45,670,228 $ (2102,000) S (613,545) $ - $  (19,492,476) S 23,641,163
- - - - (18,124,277) (18,124,277)
- 2,102,000 - - - 2,102,000
354,009 - (354,009) - - -
478,582 - 308,473 - - 5,027,055
83 - - - - 100
109,902 - - - - 110,000
38,894,232 - - - - 38,922,320
89,747,036 - (659,081) - (37,616,753) 51,678,361
- - - - (46,729,174) (46,729,174)
- - - (199,711) - (199,711)
- - - - - $ (46,928,885)
1,148,487 - (1,148,487) - - -
1,935,606 - 530,211 - - 2,465,817
499,288 - - - - 499,954
66,188,911 - - - - 66,229,161
39,910,741 - - - - 39,935,720
2,721,968 - - - - 2,721,968
101,277 - - - - 101,385
202,253 314 - (1,277,357) (199,711 (84,345,927) 116,703,481
- - - - (73,540,656) (73,540,656)
- - - 12,005 - 12,005
- - - - - S (73,528,651)
474,529 - 747,810 - - 1222339
699,362 - - - - 700,670
28,627,004 - - - - 28,642,482
1,965,909 - - - - 1,965,909
218,691 - - - - 218,888
$ 234,238,809 S - $  (529,547) s (187,706) $  (157,886,583) s 7592518
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For The Years Ended December 31,1999, 2000 and 2001

1999

2000

2001

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock options and warrants
Acquired in-process research and development
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Other operating assets and liabilities

Due from related party, net

s {(18,124,277)

1,005,411
5,027,055

(581,461)
127,428
(1,612,147)
885,306
(212,059)

27,365

$ (46,720,174)

1,675,816
2,465,817
25,800,000

(10,157)
219,562
(284,921)
1,203,848
372177
152,800
(136)

$ (73,540,656)

4,149,456
1,222,339
34,595,747

45514
(702,611)
103,507
(1,027,694)
(2,085,600)
413,174
376

Net cash used in operating activities

(13,457.373)

(15,134,368)

(36,826,447)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of plant and equipment (4,925,941} (2,641,852) (1,665,468)
Proceeds from marketable securities - - 2,996,750
Investment in AGTC - (300,000} (525,000)
Net cash acquired in merger - 1,316,733 2,184,165
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (4,925,941) (1,625,119) 2,990,447
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from sale of equity 41,134,320 66,788,578 -
Exercise of stock options and warrants 100 499,954 700,670
Deferred public offering costs (559,417) - (128,334)
Employee stock purchase plan - 101,385 218,888
Payments of long-term debt (512,835) (905,646) (2,230,442)
Proceeds from long-term debt 2,571,039 - -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities: 42,633,207 66,484,271 (1,439,218)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 24,249,893 49,724,784 {35,275,218)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 22,168,049 46,417,942 96,142,726
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 46,417942 $ 96142726 S 60,867508
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 291,397 S 409,001 S 660,507
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
tssuance of equity for mergers s - $ 42,657,688 $ 30,608,391

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

The business was formed on March 31,1994, through the creation of
a Delaware corporation (Founder Holdings Inc.). in July 1995, the
founders of Founder Holdings Inc. formed Antigenics inc,, formerly
Antigenics L.L.C. (Antigenics or the Company), a Delaware limited
liability company, and subsequently transferred to the Company all
of the assets, liabilities, properties and rights of the Delaware corpo-
ration in exchange for an initial 81.5% equity interest in the Company.
The accounting for this recapitalization was recorded at Founder
Holdings Inc.s historical cost.

Since the reorganization in 1995, Founder Holdings Inc. has directly or
indirectly owned a significant portion of our common stock. As of
December 31, 2001, Founder Holdings Inc. owns approximately 79%
of Antigenics Holdings LLC that, in turn, owns approximately 38% of
our outstanding common stock. Certain of our board members and
executive officers own significant interests in these related parties.

We develop treatments for cancers, serious infectious diseases, autoim-
mune and degenerative disorders using our proprietary technology
to program the immune system and to improve quality of life. We are
primarily engaged in the development of immunotherapeutics, includ-
ing our fead product Oncophage, that are based on our heat shock
protein technology platform. The related business activities include
product research and development activities, regulatory and clinical
affairs, establishing manufacturing capabilities, production for clinical
trials, and administrative and corporate development activities.

We have incurred annual operating losses since inception and, as a
result, at December 31, 2001 have an accumulated deficit of 157,887,000
inclusive of non-cash charges of $60,396,000 for acquired in-process
research and development and $13,739,000 related to grants of stock
options, warrants and common stock. Our operations have been funded
principally by sales of equity. We believe that our current working
capital resources, in addition to the net proceeds received from our
offering in January 2002 (see Note 17), are sufficient to satisfy our
liquidity requirements through the first quarter of 2004. Satisfying
our long-term liguidity needs will require the successful commercial-
ization of Oncophage or other products and may require additional
capital.

Our products require clinical trials and approvals from regulatory
agencies as well as acceptance in the marketplace. We are conducting
clinical trials in various cancers and infectious disease indications.
Although we believe our patents, patent rights and patent applications
are valid, the invalidation of our patents or failure of certain of our
pending patent applications to issue as patents could have a material
adverse effect upon our business. Part of our strategy is to develop
and commercialize some of our products by continuing our existing
collaborative arrangements with academic and corporate collaborators
and licensees and by entering into new collaborations. Our success
depends, in part, on the success of these parties in performing research,
preclinical and clinical testing. We compete with specialized biotech-
nology companies, major pharmaceutical companies, universities,

and research institutions. Many of these competitors have substan-
tially greater resources than we do.

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation The consoli-
dated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America and include the accounts of Antigenics inc. and our wholly-
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and
accounts have been eliminated.

{b) Segment Information We are managed and operated as one busi-
ness. The entire business is managed by a single management team
that reports to the chief executive officer. We do not operate separate
lines of business with respect to any of our product candidates.
Accordingly, we do not prepare discrete financial information with
respect to separate product areas or by location and do not have
separately reportable segments as defined by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information.

(¢} Use of Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-
ments and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Management bases its estimates on historical
experience and on various assumptions that are believed to be rea-
sonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents We consider all highly liquid investments
purchased with maturities at acquisition of three months or less to
be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents at December 31, 2000 and 2001,
consist of investments in money market accounts, commercial paper
and government backed securities.

(e) Investments We classify investments in marketable securities at the
time of purchase. At December 31,2000, and 2001, all marketable
securities were classified as available-for-sale. investments of less than
20% of the voting control of companies or other entities over whose
operating and financial policies we do not have the power to exercise
significant influence, are accounted for by the cost method. Pursuant
to this method, we record our investment at cost and recognize
dividends received as income. The carrying values of investments are
periodically reviewed to determine whether a decline in value is other
than temporary.

(f) Concentrations of Credit Risk Financial instruments that potentially
subject us to concentration of credit risk are primarily cash and cash
equivalents, marketable securities and accounts receivable. Cash and
cash equivalents and marketable securities are restricted to financial
institutions and corporations with high credit standings. Credit risk on
accounts receivable is minimized by the strong financial position of the
entities with which we do business.
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(g) Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.
Cost has been determined using standard costs that approximate
the first-in, first-out method.

(h) Plant and Equipment Plant and equipment, including software
developed for internal use, are carried at cost. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method cover the estimated useful lives of the
assets. Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed over the
shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life of the asset. Additions
and improvements are capitalized, while repairs and maintenance are
charged to expense as incurred.

(i) Long-Lived Assets Our policy is to record long-lived assets at cost
or fair value at date of acquisition, amortizing these costs over the
expected useful lives of the related assets. These assets are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable. The
assets are evaluated for continuing value and proper useful lives by
comparison to expected undiscounted future net cash flows. If such
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized
is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets
exceed the fair value of the assets, calculated as expected discounted
future cash flows. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower
of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

(j) Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value of a financial
instrument represents the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced sale or liquidation. Significant differences can arise
between the fair value and carrying amounts of financial instruments
that are recognized at historical cost amounts. The estimated fair val-
ues of all of our financial instruments, excluding debt, approximate
their carrying amounts in the balance sheets. The fair value of our
long-term debt was derived by evaluating the nature and terms of
each note and considering the prevailing economic and market con-
ditions at the balance sheet date. The carrying amount of debt, including
current portions, is approximately $4,978,000 and $6,096,000 at
December 31,2000 and 2001, respectively; and the fair value is estimated
to be approximately $5,265,000 and $6,235,000 at December 31,2000
and 2001, respectively.

(k) Intangibles Intangible assets result from our business acquisitions
accounted for under the purchase methed and include core and devel-
oped technology and assembled workforce. The purchased technology
and assembled workforce are amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of ten and three years, respectively.

(1) Goodwill The excess cost over the identifiable net assets (good-
will) arising from our acquisition of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals Inc. is
amortized on a straight-line basis over ten years.

{m) Revenue Recognition Revenue from product sales is recognized at
the time of product shipment. Revenue for services under research and
development grants and contracts are recognized as the services are
performed or clinical trial materials are provided. Nonrefundable mile-
stone payments that represent the completion of a separate earnings
process and a significant step in the research and development process
are recognized as revenue when earned. For the years ended December
31,2000 and 2001,100% of our research product sales were to one
customer. For the year ended December 31, 2000, one research partner
represented 100% of our research and development revenue, while
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for the year ended December 31, 2001, three partners represented
13%, 34% and 35%, of total research and development revenues.

{n) Research and Development Research and development expenses
include the costs associated with our internal research and develop-
ment activities, including, salaries and benefits, occupancy costs, clinical
manufacturing costs and administrative costs, and research and devel-
opment conducted for us by outside advisors, sponsored research
partners, and clinical study partners. Research and development expens-
es include all expenses related to any grant revenue recognized as
well as the cost of clinical trial materials shipped to our research part-
ners. All research and development costs discussed above are expensed
as incurred.

(0) Stock-Based Compensation We account for options granted to
employees and directors in accordance with Accounting Principles
Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,
and related interpretations. As such, compensation expense is recorded
on fixed stock option grants only if the current fair value of the underly-
ing stock exceeds the exercise price of the option at the date of grant
and it is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

We account for stock options granted to non-employees on a fair-value
basis in accordance with SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation and Emerging Issues Task Force [ssue No. 96-18,
Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than
Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.
As a result, the non-cash charge to operations for non-employee
options with vesting or other performance criteria is affected each
reporting period by changes in the fair value of our common stock.

As required, we also provide pro forma net loss and pro forma net
loss per common share disclosures for employee and director stock
option grants as if the fair-value-based method defined in SFAS No.
123 had been applied {see Note 10).

(p) Income Taxes Prior to converting to a corporation, as a Delaware
limited liability company, no federal, state and local income taxes
were levied on the Company. Each member of the Company was indi-
vidually responsible for reporting his or her share of our net income
or loss on their personal tax returns. Therefore, no provision for income
taxes is recognized in the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments for the years ending prior to December 31,1999,

Beginning February 9, 2000, income taxes are accounted for under the
asset and liability method with deferred tax assets and liabilities rec-
ognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be reversed or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in operations in
the period that includes the enactment date. Deferred tax assets are
recorded when they more likely than not are able to be realized.

(q) Net Loss Per Share Basic earnings or loss per share (EPS) is computed
using the weighted average number of shares of common stock out-
standing during the period being reported on. Diluted EPS reflects the
potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to
issue shares were exercised or converted into stock at the beginning




of the period being reported on and the effect was dilutive. Net loss
and weighted average common stock used for computing diluted EPS
were the same as those used for computing basic £PS for each of the
years ended December 31,1999, 2000, and 2001, because our stock
options and warrants were not included in the calculation, since the
inclusion of such potential shares (approximately 1,396,000 potential
shares of common stock at December 31, 2001) would be antidilutive.

(r) Derivatives In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued SFAS No.133, Accounting for Derivative instruments and
Hedging Activities. This statement, 3s amended, establishes accounting
and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging
activities. We adopted SFAS No.133, as amended, beginning January 1,
2001. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 did not have an effect on our
financial position or our results of operations as we have no derivative
or hedging transactions.

(s) Recent Accounting Pronouncements in June 2001, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 147, Business Combinations, and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase
method of accounting be used for all business combinations initiated
after june 30, 2001, as well as all purchase method business combina-
tions completed after June 30, 2001, SFAS No. 141 also specifies the
criteria intangible assets acquired in a purchase method business
combination must meet to be recognized and reported apart from
goodwill, noting that any purchase price allocable to an assembled
workforce may not be accounted for separately. SFAS No. 142 requires
that goodwil! and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no
longer be amortized, but instead that they be tested for impairment
at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No.142.
SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with finite useful
lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful! lives to their
estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment in accordance
with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets.

We adopted the specified provisions of SFAS No. 141 beginning July 1,
2001, and will adopt SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002. Goodwil!
and intangible assets acquired in business combinations completed
before July 1, 2001 continued to be amortized prior to the adoption of
SFAS No.142.

SFAS No. 141 will require upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, that we eval-
uate our existing intangible assets and goodwill that were acquired
in prior purchase business combinations, and to make any necessary
reclassifications in order to conform with the new criteria in SFAS No.
141 for recognition apart from goodwill. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142,
we will be required to reassess the useful lives and residual values of
all intangible assets acquired in purchase business combinations, and
make any necessary amortization period adjustments by the end of
the first interim period after adoption. In addition, to the extent an
intangible asset is identified as having an indefinite useful life, we
will be required to test the intangible asset for impairment in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142 within the first interim
period. Any impairment loss will be measured as of the date of adop-
tion and recognized as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle in the first interim period.

In connection with the transitional goodwill impairment evaluation,
SFAS No.142 will require us to perform an assessment of whether there
is an indication that goodwill is impaired as of the date of adoption.
Any transitional impairment loss will be recognized as the cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle in our consolidated state-
ment of operations.

As of December 31 2001, we have unamortized goodwill in the amount
of $2,756,000 and unamortized other intangible assets in the amount
of $10,504,000, all of which will be subject to the transition provisions
of SFAS No. 142. Amortization expense related to goodwill and other
intangible assets was $91,000 and $1,323,000 for the years ended
December 31,2000 and 2001, respectively. Because of the effort needed
to comply with adopting SFAS No142, it is not practicable to reasonably
estimate the impact of adoption on our consolidated financial state-
ments at the date of this report, including whether any transitional
impairment losses will be required to be recognized as the cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle.

In August 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. This statement addresses
financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of
fong-lived assets. This statement supersedes SFAS No. 121, Accounting
for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
Be Disposed Of. This statement establishes an accounting model for
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144 is required
to be adopted beginning January 1,2002. We have not determined the
impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS No. 144 will have on our financial
position or results of operations.

(t) Reclassifications Certain amounts in the 1999 and 2000 consoli-
dated financial statements have been reciassified to conform to the
2001 financial statement presentation.

(3) MERGERS

On July 12, 2001, we completed our acquisition of Aronex
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company engaged in the
identification and development of proprietary innovative medicines
to treat infectious diseases and cancers. The acquisition was structured
as a merger of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Antigenics with and into
Aronex Pharmaceuticals pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger
among Antigenics, Nasa Merger Corp. and Aronex Pharmaceuticals
dated as of April 23, 2001. The merger was a tax-free reorganization
and is being accounted for as a purchase in accordance with SFAS No.
141, Business Combinations (see Note 2 (s}). Through this merger we
acquired two products that fit our long-term goal of creating novel
therapies for serious diseases that represent advanced alternatives to
conventional cancer treatments.

As consideration for the merger, in exchange for each of their shares
of Aronex Pharmaceuticals common stock, the stockholders of
Aronex Pharmaceuticals received (i} 0.0594 shares of Antigenics
common stock and (i} a contingent value right to receive additional
shares of Antigenics common steck in the event the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (FDA) grants final approval of a New Drug
Application on or before July 6, 2002, for ATRA-IV as a treatment for
acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL). Cash was payable in lieu of any
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fractional shares of Antigenics’ common stock otherwise issuable in
the merger for a price equal to the fraction times $17.41, the closing
price of Antigenics’ common stock on July 12, 2001. All outstanding
options and warrants to purchase shares of Aronex Pharmaceuticals
common stock were automatically converted into warrants and options
to purchase Antigenics common stock at the exchange ratio described
above. Additionally, an outstanding $2.5 million note previously con-
vertible into shares of Aronex Pharmaceuticals common stock is now
convertible into shares of Antigenics common stock at a rate adjusted
in accordance with the exchange ratio described above. In September
2001, based on the results of our meetings with the FDA, we determined
that accelerated approval of ATRA-IV in APL is unlikely and we decided
to focus our development strategy for ATRA-IV on other cancer indi-
cations. As a result, it is unlikely that additional shares of Antigenics
common stock will be issued through the exercise of the contingent
value rights.

The purchase price of $31,171,000 is the sum of (i) $28,642,000 repre-
senting the issuance of approximately 1,548,000 shares of Antigenics
common stock valued at $18.505 per share, which represents the average
closing price per share of Antigenics’ common stock for the ten trading
days ending the second trading day before July 12, 2001, which have
been issued in accordance with the exchange ratio of 0.0594 shares of
Antigenics’ common stock for each of the then outstanding shares of
Aronex Pharmaceuticals common stock as of July 11, 2001, {ii) $1,966,000
representing the fair value of options and warrants to acquire Aronex
Pharmaceuticals common stock, which became vested upon the con-
summation of the merger and exchanged for options and warrants to
purchase 283,000 shares of Antigenics common stock and (iii) an
estimated $563,000 for fractional shares and Antigenics’ costs of the
merger. The exchange ratio was agreed to in arm's-length negotiations
between representatives of both companies with the benefit of advice
from their respective financial advisors. The fair value of the options
and warrants has been calculated using an option pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions: life of the cption or
warrant — employees and directors options - 4 years and non-ernployee
options and warrants — remaining contractual life of 6 years; dividend
yield - nil; risk-free interest rate — 5.50%; price volatility ~ 74.0%.

The merger is being accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting, which means the purchase price was allocated to the
assets and liabilities of Aronex Pharmaceuticals, including its intangi-
ble assets, based upon their fair values. Valuations of specifically
identifiable intangible assets and acquired in-process research and
development have been completed. The valuation of acquired in-process
research and development {$37,643,000) represents the estimated
fair vatue of products under development at Aronex Pharmaceuticals
calculated using an income approach. This approach involves estimating
the fair value of the acquired in-process research and development
using the present value of the estimated after-tax cash flows expected
to be generated by the purchased in-process research and development
projects. The risk adjusted discount rates range from 45% to 55%,
depending on the risks associated with each specific project. Cash
inflows from projects are estimated to begin primarily in 2005 and
2006, the expected dates of product approvals. Gross margins on
products are estimated at levels consistent with industry expectations.
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The fair values of the acquired intangible non-current assets ($5,290,000)
and acquired in-process research and development have been propor-
tionately reduced by the amount that the estimated fair value of the
net assets acquired exceeds the estimated purchase price {negative
goodwill) resulting in intangible non-current assets of $4,872,000 (to
be amortized over 10 years) and acquired in-process research and
development of $34,596,000. We assumed liabilities of $11,625,000
consisting of accounts payable and accrued expenses of $8,276,000
and debt velued at $3,349,000. included in the accrued expenses are
restructuring costs of approximately $2,491,000 for estimated net
future lease payments related to the non-cancelable lease of the
manufacturing and office facility located in Houston, which we intend
to sublet, and $1,900,000 of costs to relocate or terminate Aronex
Pharmaceuticals employees. In determining the lease related costs
management has made certain estimates regarding the timing of
and amount of any potential sublease agreement.

The following represents the condensed balance sheet of Aronex
Pharmaceuticals at the closing of the merger, July 12, 2001 (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivatents S 2,747
Other current assets 126
Acquired in-process research and development 34,596
Core and developed technology 4,872
Other assets 455
Total assets 42,796
Current liabilities 9,423
Long-term debt 501
Other liabilittes 1,700
Total Liabilities 11,625
Net assets acquired $ 311N

The results of operations and cash flows of Aronex Pharmaceuticals
have been included in our consolidated financial statements prospec-
tively as of the closing of the merger. In addition, we have recognized
a non-recurring charge to operations of 34,596,000 on July 12, 2001,
for the immediate write-off of the acquired in-process research and
development.

On November 16, 2000, we acquired all of the outstanding common
stock, options and warrants of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals, inc., a
biotechnology company engaged in the discovery, product develop-
ment, and commercialization of products to prevent, treat, or contro!
infectious diseases, autoimmune disorders, and cancers. The resuits
of operations of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals have been included in
our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

The purchase price of $44,819,000 is the sum of (i) $39,936,000 rep-
resenting approximately 2,498,000 shares of our common stock val-
ued at approximately $15.98 per share, which represents the average
closing price per share of our common stock for the five days before
and after the announcement of the merger on August 18, 2000,
issued at an exchange ratio of 0.2898 shares of our common stock for
each of the 8,619,000 outstanding shares of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals
stock as of November 16, 2000 (the consummation date of the merger),
(i) $2,722,000 representing the fair value of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals
options and warrants to acquire Aquila Biopharmaceuticals stock, which
was vested upon the consummation of the merger and exchanged
for options and warrants to purchase 264,000 shares of our common



stock and (iii) an estimated $2,161,000 of our costs of the merger and
the cost to sever the employment of Aquila Biopharmaceuticals’ presi-
dent. The fair value of the Aguila Biopharmaceuticals options and

warrants has been calculated using an option pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions: life of the options - 6 years;
dividend yield - nil; risk-free interest rate - 5.50%; price volatility - 74.0%.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. Accordingly, a portion of the purchase price was allocated
to the identifiable net assets acquired based on their estimated fair
values. The fair value of the tangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed were $14,628,000 and $5,306,000, respectively. In addition,
$25,800,000 of the purchase price was allocated to in-process research
and development projects as described below; such amount was
charged to operations at the date of acquisition. The balance of the
purchase price was allocated as follows: core and developed technology
of $6,200,000, assembled work-force of $510,000 and goodwill of
$2,987,000. Such intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of ten years, three years, and
ten years, respectively. The value of acquired in-process research and
development related to this acquisition represents the fair value of
Aquila Biopharmaceuticals’ products under development. These prod-
ucts are associated with Aquila Biopharmaceuticals’ proprietary core
technologies — the Stimulon® family of adjuvants, including QS-21.
The value of the in-process research and development projects was
determined using an income approach that involves projecting the
expected completion costs for the development projects as well as
projected cash flows resulting from their commercialization. A risk-
adjusted discount rate of 60% has been utilized for each specific
product. Cash inflows from projects are estimated to begin primarily
in 2003 and 2004, the projected dates of product approvals. Gross
margins on products are estimated at levels consistent with industry
expectations.

Through our merger with Aronex Pharmaceuticals we acquired, among
other products, Aroplatin and ATRA -1V, which are unigue liposomal
formulations that increase the distribution and metabolism of drugs
in a patient’s body. Through our merger with Aquila Biopharmaceuticals
we acquired, among other products QS-21, a companion compound
used in vaccines intended to significantly improve the guality of
immune response. At the date of the acquisitions, none of the prod-
ucts under development by Aquila Biopharmaceuticals or Aronex
Pharmaceuticals that were included in our in-process research and
development charge had achieved technological feasibility and none
were being sold on the market. There still remained substantial risks
and significant uncertainty concerning the remaining course of tech-
nical development. We need to conduct extensive additional research,
preclinical and clinical testing of these products, and obtain regulatory
approval, prior to any commercialization. Because of the great uncer-
tainty associated with these issues and the remaining effort associ-
ated with development of these products, the development projects
had not established technological feasibility at the acquisition date.
Further, these partially completed products had no alternative future
uses at the valuation date if the contemplated programs were to fail,
as the technology was highly specialized to the targeted products.

The following table reflects unaudited pro forma combined results
of operations of Antigenics, Aronex Pharmaceuticals and Aquila
Biopharmaceuticals as if such mergers had occurred as of January 1,
2000 and 1999, respectively:

1999 2000 2001

$ 4,647,000

Revenues $ 2,649,000 S 7762,000

Loss, before non-recurring charges
for write-off of acquired
in-process research
and development

${27,342,000) $(44,952,000) $ (47,601,000)

Loss, before non-recurring charges
for write-off of acquired
in-process research
and development,
per common share,
basic and diluted S {132) ¢

(158) (1.64)

These unaudited pro forma combined results have been prepared for
comparative purposes only and include certain adjustments, such as
additional amortization expense as a result of the new basis in fixed
and intangible assets. These unaudited pro forma combined results
exclude the related acquired in-process research and development
charges. These results do not purport to be indicative of the results
of operations, which actually would have occurred had the mergers
been consummated at the beginning of 2000 and 1999, or of future
results of operations of the consolidated company.

(4) INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following at December 31,2000 and 2001
(in thousands):

2000 2000
Finished goods $ 425 $ 1,058
Work in process 176 236
Raw materials and supplies 69 78
$ 670 51372

(5) INVESTMENTS

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

We have accounted for our investments consistent with SFAS No. 115,
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, and
determined that all of our short-term investments are to be classi-
fied as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at
fair value with interest on these securities included in interest income.
Available-for-sale securities consisted of the following at December
31,2000 and 2001 (in thousands):

2000 2000
ESTIMATED ESTIMATED
cosT FAIR VALUE COST  FAIRVALUE
Commercial paper $ 49982 $ 49982 $ 153384 § 15394
Government backed securities 44,946 44,946 40,990 40,990
Institutional money market funds 3,604 3,604 4,222 4,222

Corporate debt securities 500 500 - -
$ 99032 5 60606 $ 60,606

Total $ 99,032

Long-term Investments

On May 18, 2000, we committed $3,000,000 to become a limited
partner in a limited partnership which will invest principally in com-
panies that apply genomic technologies and information in their
offerings of products and services or that are engaged in research
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and development involving genomic technologies. Capital contributions
to the limited partnership are made as autharized by the general
partner. As of December 31, 2007, we have invested $825,000 ($300,000
as of December 31,2000) and have included this amount in non-current
other assets. This investment is accounted for under the cost method
as our ownership is approximately 2%. This carrying value reflects the
cost of our investment in this partnership. In order to assess whether
or not there has been an other than temporary decline in the value of
this investment, we analyze several factors including: (i) the carrying
value of the limited partnership’s investments in its portfolio compa-
nies, (i) how recently the investments in the portfolio companies have
been made, (iii) the post-financing valuations of those investments,
(iv) the level of un-invested capital held by the limited partnership
and (v) the overall trend in venture capital valuations. Based on these
analyses, we concluded that an other than temporary decline in the
value of this investment has not occurred. The general partner of the
limited partnership is AGTC Partners, L.P. and NewceGen Group Inc. is
the general partner of AGTC Partners, L.P. Noubar Afeyan, Ph.D., who
is one of our directors, is the Chairman and Senior Managing Director
and CEOQ of Flagship Ventures, a partnership of funds including
NewcoGen Group Inc. and AGTC. In addition, Garo H. Armen, Ph.D.
our Chief Executive Officer and one of our directors, is a director of
NewcoGen Group Inc.

Other non-current assets also include 22,500 shares of restricted
common stock of Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which are classified
as available-for-sale securities and carried at their market price at
December 31,2001 of $416,000 ($388,000 at December 31, 2000).

(6) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Plant and equipment, net at December 31,2000 and 2001 consists of
the following (in thousands):

ESTIMATED
DEPRECIABLE
2000 2001 LIVES
Furniture, fixtures and other S 1,467 $ 2208 3tol10years
Laboratory and
manufacturing equipment 7543 8,114  3tol0years
Leasehold improvements 8,043 8,527 2tol2years
Software 530 854 3 years
17,583 19,703
Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization 2,943 5,769
$ 14,640 $ 13,934

Plant and equipment retired and removed from the accounts aggre-
gated $51,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000.

(7) INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2001, we have available net operating loss carry-
forwards of approximately $274,689,000 and $78,119,000, for federal
and state income tax purposes, respectively, which are available to
offset future federal and state taxable income, if any, and expire
between 2002 and 2021, and 2002 and 2008, respectively. These net
operating loss carryforwards include approximately $97,471,000 and
$26,339,000 for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively,
acquired in our merger with Aquila Biopharmaceuticals and $126,122,000
for federal income tax purposes acquired in our merger with Aronex
Pharmaceuticals. Our ability to use such net operating losses may be
limited by change in control pravisions under Internal Revenue Code
Section 382 or may expire unused.
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The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant
portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as of
December 31,2000 and 2001, are presented below (in thousands):

2000 2000
Net operating loss carryforwards S 42,024 $ 99523
Start-up expenses 1734 1,987
Research and development tax credit 3323 3,323
Other temporary differences 166 609
Sub-total 47247 105,442
Less: valuation allowance {47.247) {105,442)
Net deferred tax asset 3 - S -

We have assessed the evidence relating to recoverability of the deferred
tax assets and have determined that it is more likely than not that
the deferred tax assets will not be realized due to the uncertainty of
future earnings. Accordingly, a valuation allowance has been established
for the full amount of the deferred tax assets. Of the deferred tax assets
related to the federal and state net operating loss carryforwards,
approximately $399,000 relates to a tax deduction for non-qualified
stock options and approximately $34,720,000 and $42,882,000 relates
to Aquila Biopharmaceuticals and Aronex Pharmaceuticals net operat-
ing loss carryforwards, respectively. When the benefits from non-
qualified stock options are realized for tax purposes, additional paid-in
capital will be increased. In addition, if adjustments are made to the
net operating loss carryforward assets acquired from Aquila
Biopharmaceuticals and Aronex Pharmaceuticals, such adjustments
will result in changes to our goodwill, acquired in-process research
and development and other acquired intangible assets.

(8) ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31,2000 and
2001 {in thousands):

2000 2001

Clinical trials $ 360 $ 952
Professional fees 643 595
Vacation 198 202
Sponsored research 659 1391
Payroll 989 1101
Loss on Aronex Pharmaceuticals lease - 986
Aronex Pharmaceuticals severence and relocation - 885
Other 1154 1,245
$ 4,003 S 1357

(9) EQUITY

Prior to our conversion to a corporation, we had one class of members’
equity. All members voted their equity interests in proportion to their
respective unit interest in the Company. Our net profits and losses for
each fiscal year were allocated to the capital accounts of the members
as described in the limited liability company agreement, generally in
proportion to their respective unit ownership interests. No members
were liable for any of our obligations or were required to contribute
any additional capital related to the deficits incurred.

In November 1999, we raised gross proceeds of approximately $39.2
million fram the sale of approximately 2,809,000 common shares,

inclusive of warrants, through a private equity placement. In connec-
tion with the private placement, we netted approximately $293,000



of expenses against the gross proceeds. Each stockholder participating
in this private placement received a warrant to purchase an additional
10% of the shares acquired in that offering, rounded to the nearest
whole number, at a price of approximately $13.96 per share. The war-
rants expire on September 30, 2002. Each stockholder participating in
this private placement also received registration rights.

On February 9, 2000, we completed the initial public offering (IPO) of
4,025,000 shares of common stock at $18 per share. We received gross
proceeds of $72,450,000 before deduction of offering expenses of
approximately $6,221,000. Concurrent with the completion of the IPO,
we converted from a limited liability company to a corporation. All
members of the limited liability company exchanged their respective
member interests for shares of common stock in the corporation based
on an exchange ratio of 172.0336 shares of common stock for each
members’ equity unit. The consolidated financial statements have been
retroactively restated to reflect the change from a limited liability
company to a corporation and the exchange of members’ equity units
for common stock. in conjunction with such conversion, our authorized
capital stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01
par value per share, and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01
par value per share. Our board of directors is authorized to issue the
preferred stock and to set the voting, conversion and other rights.

During 2000, we issued warrants to purchase approximately 31,000
shares of our common stock at a weighted average exercise price per
share of $13.96 to outside advisors. Compensation expense recog-
nized with respect to such warrants totaled $355,000.

We also assumed a warrant to purchase shares of our commen stock
in the Aquila Biopharmaceuticals merger that will continue to be
governed by the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the
Aquila Biopharmaceuticals warrant. The assumed warrant, which
expires July 2003, is exercisable for approximately 18,000 shares of our
common stock with an exercise price per share of $14.22. In addition,
as part of the Aronex Pharmaceuticals merger in 2001, we assumed i)
warrants to purchase our common stock that are exercisable for
approximately 105,000 shares of our common stock with a weighted
average exercise price of $52.94 per share of which 39,000 expire
during 2002, 57,000 expire in 2004, and 9,000 expire in 2006; and ii)
a $2,500,000 note payable due May 2002, which is convertible into
our common stock at $73.23 per share at the note holder’s option.

(10) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

In March 1996, the board of directors approved an equity-based
incentive compensation plan (the 1996 Plan). Pursuant to the provi-
sions of the Plan, the board of directors may grant options to directors,
employees, and outside advisors to purchase our common stock. At
the date of grant, the board of directors sets the terms of the options,
including the exercise price and vesting period. The options granted
through December 31, 2007, have vesting periods ranging up to five
years. Options generally have a contractual life of ten years. Options
outstanding under our 1996 plan were exchanged for stock options
under the 1999 equity plan at the closing of the IPO.

In connection with the IPO, the board of directors approved an employee
equity incentive pian (the 1999 equity plan). OQur stockholders approved
the plan in May 2000. Our 1999 equity plan authorizes the grant of
incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and non-qualified stock

options for the purchase of an aggregate of 4,800,000 shares {subject
to adjustment for stock splits and similar capital changes} of common
stock to employees and, in the case of non-qualified stock options, to
consultants and directors as defined in the equity plan. The board of

directors has appointed the compensation committee to administer

the 1999 equity plan.

The following summarizes activity for options granted to directors and
employees, including those with an exercise price equal to the fair
vatue of the underlying shares of common stock at the date of grant
(“at-the-money exercise price”), those with an exercise price greater
than the fair value of the underlying share of common stock at the
date of grant (“out-of-the-money exercise price”), and those with an
exercise price less than the fair value of the underlying share of com-
mon stock at the date of grant (“in-the-money exercise price”):

OPTIONS WEICHTED ~ WEIGHTED
EXERCISABLE AVERAGE AVERAGE
ATENDOF  GRANT-DATE EXERCISE
OPTIONS YEAR FA(R VALUE PRICE
Outstanding December 31,1998 544,657 347,851
Granted:
Out-of-the-money exercise price 254,608 $ 625 $ 12,07
In-the-money exercise price 50,921 9.67 650
Expired {21,848) - 710
Qutstanding December 31,1999 828,339 500,101
Granted:
In-the-money exercise price 202370 13.87 10.74
At-the-money exercise price 561,322 8.91 129
Exercised (17,203} - 1.45
Forfeited (113,066) - 9.07
Aquila Biopharmaceuticals
options exchanged 264,520 10.29 n.92
Outstanding December 31,2000 1,726,282 840,973
Granted:
In-the-money exercise price 37,200 9.65 13.27
At-the-maney exercise price 783,246 8.97 14.05
Exercised (84,143) - 710
Forfeited (212,839) - 2017
Aronex Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
options exchanged 178,251 7.68 5757
Qutstanding December 31, 2001 2,427,997 1,094,281

During 1999, 2000, and 2001, 50,921, 202,370, and 37,200 options,
respectively, were granted to employees and directors at exercise
prices, which were less than the fair value of the shares of common
stock on the grant date. Compensation expense recognized with
respect to such options totaled approximately $308,000, $530,000,
and $653,000 for the years ended December 31,1999, 2000 and 2001,
respectively. Deferred compensation at December 31, 2001 of approxi-
mately $530,000 will be recognized over the remaining vesting period
of the options.

The table above includes the options exchanged for Aquila
Biopharmaceuticals and Aronex Pharmaceuticals options at the
consummation of the mergers. Each exchanged option wili continue
to be governed by the same terms and conditions of the applicable
stock option plans that were in effect immediately prior to the con-
summation of the mergers, except that each option will be exercisable
for our common stock at an exchange ratic of 0.2898 for the Aquila
Biopharmaceuticals opticns and 0.0594 for the Aronex Pharmaceuticals
options and all outstanding options were immediately vested and
exercisable.
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The following summarizes activity for options granted to outside
advisors:

OPTIONS WEIGHTED  WEIGHTED
EXERCISABLE AVERAGE AVERAGE
ATENDOF  GRANT-DATE EXERCISE
OPTIONS YEAR FAIR VALUE PRICE
Outstanding December 31,1998 507155 306,735
Granted 273,705 $ 938 $ 12.01
Exercised {1,720} - 0.06
Outstanding December 31,1999 779,340 611,579
Granted 15,925 $ 1272 $ 13.44
Exercised (17.203) - 1.45
Outstanding December 31, 2000 877862 820,194
Granted 27300 $ 1138 $ 1414
Exercised (43,813) - § 145
Outstanding December 31, 2001 861,349 921,109

In December 199g, the board of directors accelerated the remaining
vesting requirements on 268,716 stock options granted te outside
advisors. As a result, the Company recognized a charge to operations
in the fourth quarter of 1999 of approximately $2,093,000.

The outstanding options as of December 31,1998, exclude 88,941
options granted to outside advisors with an exercise price, which is
determined based on the fair value of the underlying shares of com-
mon stock beginning on the second anniversary of the grant date as
the options vest; 41,289 of these unvested options were cancelled
during the year ended December 31, 2000. Compensation expense
for these options is recognized when the exercise price becomes
known and performance has been completed. For the years ended
December 31,1998, and 1999, approximately $199,000, and $189,000
was charged to operations for 23,740, and 23,912 of such options
respectively, that vested with an exercise price of approximately
$11.17 per share of common stock in each year.

The charge to operations related to options we granted to outside

advisors, including the amounts described in the two preceding para-

graphs, totaled approximately, $4,719,000, $1,936,000, and $569,000
for the years ended December 31,1999, 2000, and 2001, respectively.

At December 31, 2001, unrecognized expense for options granted to
outside advisors for which performance (vesting) has not yet been
completed but the exercise price of the option is known is approximately
$490,000; such amount is subject to change each reporting period
based upon changes in the fair value of our common stock, estimated
volatility and the risk free interest rate until the outside advisor com-
pletes his or her performance under the option agreement.

A summary of options outstanding and exercisable, as of December
31,2001, follows:

The preceding table excludes 147,832 options assumed in our merger
with Aronex Pharmaceuticals, Inc. As of December 31, 2001, all of
these options were outstanding and exercisable with a weighted
average remaining life of 1.1years and a weighted average exercise
price of $54.77 per share.

Since the 1995 reorganization described in Note 1, Founder Holdings
Inc. has directly or indirectly owned a significant portion of our common
stock. During 1996, Founder Holdings Inc. approved a stock option plan
(the Founder’s Plan). In accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, the Founder's Plan is accounted for as if it had been adopted
by us and treated as a contribution to stockholders’ equity. Pursuant
to the provisions of the Founder’s Plan, Founder Holdings Inc. may
grant options to our officers, directors, employees, and consultants to
purchase common stock of Founder Holdings Inc.. The terms of the
options, including exercise price and vesting period, are set at the date
of grant. The options have a contractual life of ten years and may not
have an exercise price less than the fair value of a share of common
stock of Founder Holdings Inc. at date of grant. Options to purchase a
maximum of 300 shares may be granted under the Founder’s Plan.

During 1996, Founder Holdings Inc. granted options to purchase
approximately 160 shares to directors and employees at a weighted
average exercise price of $9,006 per share and a weighted average
grant-date fair value of approximately 54,301 per share. During 1997,
Founder Holdings Inc. granted options to purchase approximately
14 shares to a director at a weighted average grant-date fair value
of $16,407 per share. All the options are immediately vested and
exercisable. All of the options remain outstanding and none have
been exercised.

During 1996, Founder Holdings Inc. granted options to purchase
approximately 76 shares to consultants at a weighted average exer-
cise price of $9,006 per share and a weighted average grant-date fair
value of approximately $5,535 per share. All of the consultants’ options
are immediately vested and exercisable. All of the consultants’
options remain outstanding and none have been exercised.

In connection with the PO, the board of directors, and subsequently
the stockholders, approved an employee stock purchase plan. Under
the plan, employees may purchase shares of common stock at a dis-
count from fair value. There are 300,000 shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under the purchase plan. The purchase plan is
intended to qualify as an employee stock purchase plan within the
meaning of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended. Rights to purchase common stock under the purchase plan
are granted at the discretion of the compensation committee, which

OPTIONS QUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

RANGE OF NUMBER WEIGHTED AVERAGE WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER WEIGHTED AVERAGE

EXERCISE PRICES OUTSTANDING REMAINING LIFE (YEARS) EXERCISE PRICE EXERCISABLE EXERCISE PRICE

$ 145-$ 500 795,197 47 S 178 783,155 s 177
$ 501-% 10.00 242,410 51 759 189,220 7.89
$ 10.01~$ 15.00 1,680,599 81 1219 735,663 12.09
$ 15.01- 3% 20.00 461,977 8.2 16.59 156,477 16.28
$2001-% 25.00 8,694 8.2 20.92 8,694 20.92
$ 25.01-$ 30.01 289 2.1 25.47 289 25.47

3,189,166 1,873,498
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determines the frequency and duration of individual offerings under
the plan and the dates when stock may be purchased. Eligible employees
participate voluntarily and may withdraw from any offering at any
time before the stock is purchased. Participation terminates automati-
cally upon termination of employment. The purchase price per share
of common stock in an offering will not be less than 85% of the lesser
of its fair value at the beginning of the offering period or on the
applicable exercise date and may be paid through payroll deductions,
periodic lump sum payments or a combination of both. The plan ter-
minates on November 15, 2009. As of December 31, 2001, 30,493 shares
of common stock have been issued under the plan.

We account for options granted to employees and directors and stock
purchased in our employee stock purchase plan under APB Opinion
No. 25. Had compensation cost for options granted to employees and
directors by Antigenics and Founder Holdings inc. and stock purchased
by employees through our employee stock purchase plan been deter-
mined consistent with the fair value method of SFAS No. 123, our pro
forma net loss and pro forma net loss per common share would have
been as follows:

YEAR ENDED YEAR ENDED YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,1989 DECEMBER 31,2000  DECEMEER 31, 2001

Net loss:

As reported $ (18124,277) $ (46,729,174)  § (73,540,656)

Pro forma (19,097,345} (48,554,719) (76,119,067)

Net loss per common share:

As reported S (1.00} $ (190) s (2.61)

Pro forma (1.05) (1.97) (2.70)

The effects of applying SFAS No. 123, for either recognizing or disclosing
compensation cost under such pronouncement, may not be representa-
tive of the effects on reported net income or loss for future years. The
fair value of each option and employee stock purchase rights grant-
ed is estimated on the date of grant using an option-pricing mode!
with the following weighted average assumptions:

1999 2000 2001
Estimated volatility 54% 4% 68%
Expected life inyears
- employee and director options 6 6 6
Expected life in years
- employee stock purchase rights N/A 1 1
Risk-free interest rate 5.0% 53% 4.0%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Prior to our IPO, we estimated volatility for purposes of computing

compensation expense on outside advisor options and for disclosure
purposes using the volatility of public companies that we considered
comparable. The expected life used to estimate the fair value of outside
advisor options is equal to the contractual life of the option granted.

(11) LICENSE, RESEARCH AND OTHER AGREEMENTS

In November 1994, Founder Holdings Inc. entered into a Patent License
Agreement (Mount Sinai Agreement) with the Mount Sinai School of
Medicine (Mount Sinai). Through the Mount Sinai Agreement, we
obtained the exclusive licenses to the patent rights that resulted from
the research and development performed by Dr. Pramod Srivastava,
one of our directors. Under the Mount Sinai Agreement, we agreed to
pay Mount Sinai a nominal royalty on related product sales (as defined

in the Mount Sinai Agreement) through the last expiration date of the
patents under the Mount Sinai Agreement (2015). In addition to these
royalty payments, Mount Sinai was issued a nominal equity interest.

During 1995, Dr. Srivastava moved his research to Fordham University
(Fordham). Founder Holdings Inc. entered into a Patent License
Agreement (Fordham Agreement) with Fordham, and agreed to reim-
burse Fordham for all approved costs incurred in the performance of
research. Founder Holdings Inc. has also agreed to pay Fordham a
nominal royalty on related product sales, as defined, through the last
expiration date on the patents under the Fordham Agreement (2017).
This agreement ended in mid-1997.

In February 1998, we entered into a research agreement with the
University of Connecticut Health Center (UConn) and Dr. Srivastava.
The agreement has a term of approximately five years and calls for
payments to UConn totaling a minimum of $5,000,000, payable
quarterly at the rate of $250,000 (contingent on the continuing
employment of Dr. Srivastava by UConn). Research and development
expense in the accompanying 1999, 2000, and 2001 consolidated
statements of operations includes approximatefy $1,000,000 in each
of the respective years of costs incurred under the UConn agreement.
Royalties at varying rates are due to UConn upon commercialization
of a product utilizing technology discovered during the research
agreement.

In 1998, we entered into an agreement, as amended, with Sigma-Tau
IndustrieFarmaceutiche Riunite S.PA (Sigma-Tau), a minority interest-
hotder of the Company's common stock, to conduct clinical studies in
Italy, Spain, Portugal and Switzerland. Under the agreement, Sigma-Tau
was required to pay us for services provided by us in relation to these
clinical studies. In return, we granted Sigma-Tau the exclusive right to
negotiate a marketing and development agreement (the Development
Agreement) for the exclusive use of our patent rights and their product,
and the right of first offer to negotiate licenses for other medical uses
of their product, in Italy, Spain, Portugal and Switzerland. The right to
negotiate the Development Agreement expired during 2001. During
1999, we provided approximately $581,000 of services associated with
this agreement. This receivable amount was collected during the year
ended December 31, 2000. Amounts received under this agreement
are non-refundable even if the research effort is unsuccessful. In addi-
tion, we do not incur any future performance commitments in refation
to amounts recorded for Sigma-Tau.

We have entered into various agreements with institutions to conduct
our clinical studies. Under these agreements, subject to the enrollment
of patients and performance by the institution of certain services, we
have estimated our payments to be approximately $7,700,000 over
the term of the studies. For the years ended December 31,1999, 2000
and 2001, approximately, $375,000, $409,000, and $686,000, respec-
tively, have been expensed in the accompanying consolidated state-
ments of operations related to these clinical studies. The timing of
our expense recognition and future payments related to these agree-
ments is dependent on the enroliment of patients and documenta-
tion received from the institutions.

We entered into various research agreements with educational and
medical institutions expiring between February 2001 and August 2005,
These agreements require initial and quarterly payments totaling
approximately $2,800,000 (of which $388,000 and $890,000 was paid
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during the years ended December 31, 2000, and 2001, respectively). At
December 31,2000, $222,000 is included in prepaid expenses in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet related to these agreements.

We have various comprehensive agreements with corporate partners
that allow the partners to use our proprietary technology in numerous
vaccines including, but not limited to, hepatitis, lyme disease, human
immunodeficiency virus (HIV), influenza, and malaria. The agreements
grant exclusive worldwide rights in some fields of use, and co-exclusive
or non-exclusive rights in others. The agreements call for royalties to
be paid by the partner on its future sales of ticensed vaccines that
include our technologies.

We have product development agreements and supply agreements
with Virbac S.A. and a supply agreement with the Virbac S.A’s US.
subsidiary that cover collaboration on the development of products
for feline immune deficiency virus (FIV) and the supply of vaccine
and adjuvant for feline leukemia (FelV). Sales related to shipment of
this product were approximately $363,000 and $1,606,000 for the
years ended December 31,2000 and 2001, respectively.

In 1999 Aquila Biopharmaceuticals was awarded a grant from the
National Institutes of Health (NIH) to support the development of
novel vaccines for tuberculosis based on the CD1immune enhance-
ment technology. During 2000, Aquila Biopharmaceuticals was award-
ed two additional grants from the NIH for the development of novel
vaccines for Chlamydia and Staphylococcus aureus alse based on the
CD1technology. All three grants expired at various times during 2001.
As of the date of the merger, $502,000 of funding was still available
under those grants. We did not recognize revenue for these grants for
the period from the date of the merger to December 31, 2000. in April
2001, we were awarded a grant from the NIH of up to $303,000 to
advance the development of a vaccine for the prevention of malaria
based on our QS-21 adjuvant technology. At December 31, 2001, we
had $395,000 of funding available under these grants and for the year
ended December 31,2001, we recognized grant revenue of $410,000,
which is included in research and development revenue in our consoli-
dated statement of operations.

We entered into a license agreement with Neuralab Limited, a whoily-
owned subsidiary of Elan Corporation, p.l.c., that grants exclusive,
worldwide rights to use Q5-21 with an undisclosed antigen in the field
of Alzheimer’s disease. We also signed a supply agreement for the
adjuvant. Elan initiated a Phase IlA clinical trial of a product using QS-21
during 2001 and under the terms of our license agreement, we received
2 51,000,000 milestone payment. in March 2002, Elan halted the
dosing of patients with this product after several patients experienced
significant adverse side effects.

(12) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On August 24, 2000, we assumed the seven-year lease for our New
York City headquarters (see Note 13) from an entity wholly-owned by
our chief executive officer. No consideration was paid or received as a
result of our assumption of the lease. The lease for the New York City
headquarters was signed in November 1999; prior to such time, we
rented the headquarters space on a month-to-month basis from the
same affiliate. Rent, recorded at the affiliate’s cost, was allocated to
us based on square footage and clerical staff usage, respectively, which
management believes is reasonable. Such transactions amounted to
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approximately $281,000, and $268,000 for the years ended December
31,1999 and 2000, respectively. As of December 31, 2000, the affiliated

entity was indebted to us for $376 for costs paid on the affiliated

entity’s behalf.

(13) LEASES

We lease administrative, laboratory, and office facilities under various
long-term lease arrangements. Rent expense, exclusive of the amounts
paid to the affiliate (see Note 12), was approximately $560,000,
$979,000, and $2,326,000 for the years ended December 31,1999, 2000,
and 2001, respectively.

The future minimum rental payments under our leases of our Woburn
and Framingham, Massachusetts, manufacturing and laboratory
facilities, which expire in 2003 and 2010, respectively, our Netherlands
facility, which expires 2007, and our New York City headquarters,
which expires in 2006, are as follows (in thousands):

Year eading December 31.

2002 $ 2,854
2003 2,454
2004 1,569
2005 1,568
2006 1,589
Thereafter 3,672

$ 13,707

In connection with the New York City office space and the Framingham
facility we maintain fully collateralized letters of credit of $78,000
and $756,000, respectively. No amounts have been drawn on the letters
of credit as of December 31,2001,

Included in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2001, are amounts due
under our non-cancelable lease (net of estimated sub-lease income)
of the manufacturing, research, and office facility located in Houston,
Texas, assumed in the Aronex Pharmaceuticals merger (see Note 3).
Remaining minimum lease payments are in 2002 - $725,000; in 2003
through 2006 - $755,000 per year; and thereafter - $818,000.

(14) DEBT

We had a $5 million credit facility from a financial institution pursuant
to which the Company drew down amounts to make or refinance
certain capital expenditures. As we utilized the credit facility, separate
term notes were executed. Each term loan has a term of forty-two
months and the interest rate is fixed at the closing of each term loan
(13.95% t0 15.08%). Each loan is collateralized by the equipment, fix-
tures, and improvements acquired with the proceeds of the loan.

In connection with our mergers with Aquila Biopharmaceuticals and
Aronex Pharmaceuticals (see Note 3) we assumed the liabilities of
each company, including various existing debt agreements. Qutstanding
at the Aquila Biopharmaceuticals merger date were debentures of
approximately $204,000 with an interest rate of 7%; these debentures
are callable and accordingly, are classified as part of our short-term
debt. We also assumed term loan agreements with outstanding bal-
ances of approximately $3,561,000 at the date of the mergers. These




loans call for interest at fixed interest rates ranging from 10.38% to
13% with monthly repayments and a 10% balloon payment of
$1,427,429 due at the end of the loan term (2002). Collateral for the
loans consists of equipment and leasehold improvements.

In addition, in connection with our merger with Aronex Pharmaceuticals
we assumed a $2,500,000 convertible note payable. This note bears
interest at 10% per annum payable semi-annually, with the principal
due May 21, 2002. This note can be converted into our common stock
at $73.23 per share at the note holder’s option.

We have included all amounts payable under the term loans assumed
in the Aronex Pharmaceuticals merger as current in our consolidated
balance sheet due to the abandonment of the Houston facility and
the transfer of certain equipment to our Woburn facility. Under the
terms of the debt agreement, once the collateral is moved from the
location, the balance becomes due immediately.

The aggregate maturities of the term loans for each of the years sub-
sequent tc December 31,2001, are as follows: 2002 - $5,902,000; and
2003 - $194,000.

(15) CONTINGENCIES

In February 1999, Aquila Biopharmaceuticals received a letter from its
predecessor, Cambridge Biotechnology Corporation (CBC), alleging
that we must indemnify CBC under a Master Acquisition Agreement
among Aquila Biopharmaceuticals, CBC and bioMarieux, Inc., for
potential losses from the termination of CBC's rights under a license
agreement. We have evaluated this claim and in the opinion of man-
agement, any potential liability will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.

We have received a Notice of Arbitration filed in the International
Chamber of Commerce Arbitration by Delaval AB. Antigenics and
Delaval are parties to a License Agreement concerning technology
far the development of a vaccine against bovine mastitis. We are
obligated to make certain payments to Delaval upon issuance of
certain patents and other related milestones. Delaval claims in its
arbitration notice that we owe it $1.2 million for milestone payments
($600,000 included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
at December 31, 2000 and 2001, in accrued liabilities) in connection
with the issuance of certain patents. It is our position that we have
rightfully withheld this payment as an offset against prior payments
exceeding $1.1 million made to Delaval for issuance of three prior
patents, which Delaval has wrongfully retained, Subsequent to receiv-
ing such payments, Delaval informed us that a number of errors had
been made in the application for these patents, several of which are
potentially material to the License Agreement and the underlying
technology. Moreover, Delaval failed to make one or more corrective
filings within the allowable time. Delaval has failed and refused to
return or credit us for these payments. Accordingly, we have responded
to Delaval's request for arbitration and intend to defend vigorously
against these claims. The arbitration is in its initial stages and thus,
the outcome is uncertain.

In February 2007, we filed a complaint against 8 Cabot Road (nc. and
12 Cabot Road Inc. for breach of contract and against Susan F. Brand
for breach of fiduciary duty for failure to return a $350,000 deposit
held in escrow in connection with a purchase and sale agreement for

property to expand cur Woburn facility. The defendants have filed an
answer denying our allegations and have asserted a counterclaim that
we are improperly seeking a return of cur deposit. We have answered
the counterclaim denying the defendants’ allegations. We are currently
in the deposition process and intend to vigorously defend against these
claims. The deposit is currently included in other current assets in the
accompanying consolidated bafance sheets at December 31, 2000
and 2001.

Antigenics, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Garo Armen, and
two brokerage firms that served as underwriters in our initial public
offering have been named as defendants in a civil class action lawsuit
filed on November 5,2001, in the Federal District Court in the Southern
District of New York. The suit alleges that these underwriters charged
secret excessive commissions to certain of their customers in return
for allocations of our stock in the offering. The suit also alleges that
shares of our stock were allocated to certain of the underwriters' cus-
tomers based upon an agreement by such customers to purchase
subsequent shares of our stock in the secondary market. We intend
to vigorously defend against these claims.

(16) 401(K) PLAN

We spensor a defined contribution 401(k) savings plan for all eligible
employees, as defined. Participants may contribute up to 15% of their
compensation, as defined, with a maximum of $10,500 in 2001. Each
participant is fully vested in his or her contributions and related
earnings and losses. Prior to January 1, 2001, we matched 100% of the
participant’s contribution and at that time the matching was reduced
to 75%. Such matching contributions vest over four years. For the years
ended December 31,1999, 2000, and 2001, we charged approximately
$145,000, 5204,000, and $464,000 to operations for the 401{k) plan.

(17) SUBSEQUENT EVENT

in January 2002, pursuant to a Form $-3 Shelf Registration Statement
filed on December 5,200, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
we sold 4,000,000 shares of our commien stock, $0.01 par value, at $15.00
per share. We received net proceeds of approximately $56 millien.

(18) QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

{in thousands, except per share data) THREE MONTHS ENDED

2001 MARCH 31, JUNE 30, SEPTEMBER 30, DECEMBER 31,
Net safes $ 883 § 1,278 $ 794 $ 1589
Grass profit 657 923 687 1,223
Net loss (7,307) (8,425} (44,003) {13,805)
Net loss per share,

basic and difuted S (0.27) s {031 S (1.53) $ (048}

THREE MONTHS ENDED

2000 MARCH 31, JUNE 30, SEPTEMBER 30, DECEMBER3T,
Net sales 5 ~ $ - 5 - S 443
Gross profit ~ - - 79
Net loss (4,363) (4,846) (4,751} (32,769)
Net Joss per share,

basic and diluted s (019) $ (0.20) 5 {0.19) $  (132)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockhoiders
Antigenics Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Antigenics inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31,2000 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2001, These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as eval-
uating the overall financial staternent presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of Antigenics Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,2000 and 2001, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,

2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Notes 2(s) and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations, and No. 142, Goodwil! and
Other Intangible Assets, for purchase method business combinations completed after june 30, 2001.

KPP LLP

Short Hills, New Jersey
February 19,2002

MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock has been traded on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbal “AGEN” since
February 4, 2000; prior to that date there was no public trading market for the stock.

The following table sets forth the range of the high and low closing prices for our common stock for the
quarterly periods during which the stock has been publicly traded:

2000 HIGH LOW
First Quarter $ 71500 $ 18250
Second Quarter 22.500 10.060
Third Quarter 21.750 12.583
Fourth Quarter 16.500 10.250
2001 HIGH Low
First Quarter $ 18.188 $ 10500
Second Quarter 21.380 12.500
Third Quarter 19.650 11.050
Fourth Quarter 18.200 12.540

As of March 19, 2002, there were approximately 3,791 holders of record and approximately 23,736 beneficial
holders of our common stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commion stock and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends
in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to fund the development of
our business.
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